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EVIDENCE 

Whitehorse, Yukon 

Wednesday, June 19, 2013 — 10:00 a.m. 

 

Ms. Hanson:    I’m Elizabeth Hanson, and I’m the 

Chair of the Public Accounts Committee for the Yukon Legis-

lative Assembly. I will now call to order this hearing of the 

Standing Committee on Public Accounts of the Yukon Legisla-

tive Assembly. 

The Public Accounts Committee is established by Standing 

Order 45(3) of the Standing Orders of the Yukon Legislative 

Assembly. This Standing Order says that: “At the commence-

ment of the first Session of each Legislature a Standing Com-

mittee on Public Accounts shall be appointed and the Public 

Accounts and all Reports of the Auditor General shall stand 

referred automatically and permanently to the said Committee 

as they become available.” 

On December 7, 2011, the Yukon Legislative Assembly 

adopted Motion No. 7, which established the membership of 

the Public Accounts Committee for the current Legislative As-

sembly. On November 27, 2012, the membership of the com-

mittee was amended when the Legislative Assembly adopted 

Motion No. 304, as amended.  

In addition to appointing members to the committee, the 

initial motion, Motion No. 7, stipulated that the committee 

shall, “have the power to call for persons, papers and records 

and to sit during intersessional periods.” So today, pursuant to 

Standing Order 45(3) and Motion No. 7, the committee will 

investigate the Auditor General of Canada’s report, entitled 

“Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Yukon Legis-

lative Assembly-2013: Capital Projects — Yukon Hospital 

Corporation.” 

At the outset, I would like to thank the witnesses from the 

Yukon Hospital Corporation and the Department of Health and 

Social Services for appearing. I believe that Mr. Tuton, Chair 

of the Board of Trustees of the Yukon Hospital Corporation 

and Ms. Meade, Deputy Minister of the Department of Health 

and Social Services, will introduce the witnesses during the 

opening remarks. Also present are officials from the Office of 

the Auditor General of Canada. They are Ronnie Campbell, 

Assistant Auditor General; Eric Hellsten, Principal, Vancouver 

regional office; and Ruth Sullivan, Audit Project Leader. 

I will now introduce the members of the Public Accounts 

Committee. As I mentioned at the outset, my name is Elizabeth 

Hanson. I chair this committee, and I am the Member of the 

Yukon Legislative Assembly for Whitehorse Centre.  

To my right is Stacey Hassard, who is the committee’s 

Vice-Chair and the Member for Pelly-Nisutlin. To Mr. Has-

sard’s right is the Hon. Scott Kent, the Member for Riverdale 

North. To my left is Patti McLeod, the Member for Watson 

Lake. To Ms. McLeod’s left is Jan Stick, the Member for 

Riverdale South. Behind me is the Hon. Currie Dixon, the 

Member for Copperbelt North, who is substituting for the Hon. 

Mike Nixon, the Member for Porter Creek South. To Mr. Dix-

on’s right is Sandy Silver, the Member for Klondike. Acting as 

Clerk to the Public Accounts Committee today is Linda Ko-

lody, who is also the Deputy Clerk of the Yukon Legislative 

Assembly.  

The Public Accounts Committee is an all-party committee 

with a mandate to ensure economy, efficiency and effective-

ness in public spending — in other words, accountability for 

the use of public funds. The purpose of this public hearing is to 

address issues of the implementation of policies — whether 

programs are being effectively and efficiently delivered — and 

not to question the policies of the Government of Yukon. In 

other words, our task is not to challenge government policy, but 

to examine its implementation. The results of our deliberations 

will be reported back to the Legislative Assembly.  

To begin the proceedings, Mr. Campbell will give an open-

ing statement summarizing the findings in the Auditor Gen-

eral’s report. Mr. Tuton and Ms. Meade will then be invited to 

make an opening statement on behalf of the Yukon Hospital 

Corporation and the Department of Health and Social Services 

respectively. Committee members will then ask questions. As 

is the committee’s practice, the members devise and compile 

the questions collectively; we then divide them up among the 

members. The questions each member will ask are not just their 

personal questions on a particular subject, but those of the en-

tire committee. 

At the end of the hearing, the committee will prepare a re-

port of its proceedings and any recommendations it makes. 

This report will be tabled in the Legislative Assembly along 

with a transcript of the hearing. Before we start the hearing, I 

would ask that questions and answers be kept brief and to the 

point so that we may deal with as many issues as possible in 

the time allotted for this hearing. I would also ask that mem-

bers, witnesses and advisors wait until they are recognized by 

the Chair before speaking. This will keep the discussion more 

orderly and allow those listening on the radio or over the Inter-

net to know who is speaking. I’d like to now proceed with Mr. 

Campbell’s opening statement. 

Mr. Campbell:     I am pleased to be here today before 

the Public Accounts Committee to discuss our report on the 

Yukon Hospital Corporation’s capital projects. This report was 

tabled on February 26 in the Legislative Assembly.  

With me today are members of the audit team, Eric Hell-

sten and Ruth Sullivan. In this audit, we looked at three capital 

projects: the new Watson Lake and Dawson City hospitals and 

the Crocus Ridge staff residence in Whitehorse. Together, these 

projects cost over $72 million. We examined whether the Yu-

kon Hospital Corporation, in collaboration with the Department 

of Health and Social Services, adequately planned for building 

the hospitals. We also examined whether the Hospital Corpora-

tion adequately planned the building of the new Crocus Ridge 

staff residence. Finally, we examined whether the Hospital 

Corporation adequately managed the building of these three 

capital projects.  

I would like to briefly go over the main findings of the re-

port. First, we found that the corporation did not conduct a full 

assessment of the communities’ health care needs in planning 

and designing the hospitals. Without such an assessment and 

without an analysis of the options that could meet the needs, 
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the corporation is unable to demonstrate that the hospitals have 

been designed to meet the communities’ health care needs as 

cost effectively as possible.  

In addition, the corporation did not determine the incre-

mental operating costs for the hospitals until construction was 

well underway.  

Higher operating costs for the two hospitals are expected 

to significantly increase the overall costs of providing health 

care in the two communities. Further, the corporation and the 

department face the ongoing challenge of acquiring and retain-

ing staff for both hospitals. In all three projects, most contracts 

were competitively tendered and most change orders were ap-

propriately justified and managed. The corporation also regu-

larly monitored the projects, but the hospital projects will be 

delivered later than expected and will be over budget. The Cro-

cus Ridge Residence also experienced construction delays and 

cost increases.  

With regard to the hospital projects, we made a recom-

mendation to the Hospital Corporation that, in collaboration 

with the Department of Health and Social Services, it should 

conduct a health care needs assessment in the communities of 

Watson Lake and Dawson City. Further, it should use the in-

formation gathered in that exercise to ensure that the services 

delivered in the hospitals are designed to meet the community’s 

needs in the most cost-effective way possible. 

We also made several recommendations to the Hospital 

Corporation for future capital projects.  

Before beginning such projects, the corporation should: 

carry out a needs assessment, a risk assessment and an options 

analysis; collaborate with the Department of Health and Social 

Services; establish reasonable budget and completion dates, 

and ensure that both capital and incremental operating costs are 

known before proceeding. Both organizations agreed with the 

recommendations and have committed to implementing them. 

We understand they have provided the committee with an ac-

tion plan in response to the recommendations. We encourage 

the committee to ask the Hospital Corporation and the depart-

ment to provide members with an update on the implementa-

tion of this plan. 

Madam Chair, this concludes my opening statement. My 

colleagues and I would be happy to answer any questions your 

committee may have. 

Mr. Bilsky:     Madam Chair, I would like to thank the 

Public Accounts Committee for inviting us to speak to you 

today regarding the Office of the Auditor General’s perfor-

mance audit on the corporation’s capital projects. 

I am Jason Bilsky, CEO of the Yukon Hospital Corpora-

tion. With me today is Craig Tuton, Chair of the Board of Trus-

tees of the Yukon Hospital Corporation, as well as Kelly 

Steele, Chief Financial Officer, and Maureen Turner, Executive 

Director of Patient Experience. 

The Yukon Hospital Corporation appreciates the work that 

OAG has done resulting in the report’s findings and recom-

mendations. The corporation believes the report from the Audi-

tor General, Michael Ferguson, on the development and plan-

ning of the two community hospitals highlights, the need for 

the corporation and Yukon government to collaborate on con-

tinuously assessing and improving health care delivery in Yu-

kon.  

Our continuing focus is to support a seamless system that 

is patient- and client-centred with good access, safe, of high 

quality and efficient. That means working with the Department 

of Health and Social Services to ensure the programs and ser-

vices that will be delivered within the hospital settings continue 

to meet the evolving needs, ensuring integration with a strong 

community system.  

The corporation is in the final stages of construction of 

comprehensive health care facilities with significant flexibility 

in design to allow for different or future changing needs. 

Health care is dynamic and ever evolving and the corporation is 

committed to working in partnership with Health and Social 

Services to continually assess the needs to design and deliver 

the services required. Specific to the OAG’s report, the corpo-

ration has addressed many of the issues and recommendations, 

which I will highlight further in a moment. 

The corporation has been making significant progress to 

improve the acute care services to all Yukoners and has been 

working to ensure that the residents of both north and southeast 

Yukon receive safe, accessible and quality hospital services 

closer to home. As you can imagine, constructing and opening 

two new hospitals more than 500 kilometres away from White-

horse is a tremendous amount of work and no small feat.  

With strong support from the corporation, starting with the 

Board of Trustees and all levels of management, we are nearing 

construction completion and operational readiness in both loca-

tions. The corporation will be ready to open two new hospital 

facilities this year. Please allow me the opportunity to provide 

you with some information on the origins of the hospital, as 

well as the current status, which may address some points 

raised in the OAG’s report. The Watson Lake community hos-

pital was transferred to the corporation on April 1, 2010, in 

compliance with the Yukon Hospital Act. Since then acute care 

services have been provided in an aging facility. It was impera-

tive that the facility be replaced; renovation was not a feasible 

option.  

This project began in 2009 with the design phase and an 

original estimated completion date of spring of 2012. A con-

struction budget was just over $22 million, which excluded the 

cost of equipment and capitalized interest costs. Construction is 

nearing completion, and we’ll be opening the facility this 

summer. The total cost to complete the project is $27.9 million, 

which now includes equipment costs and capitalized interest, 

which was initially recognized would be added to the total 

spending. Also included are anticipated change costs, mostly 

related to using an unfinished, existing shell.  

The Dawson City community hospital also began in the 

fall of 2009 with the design phase and an original estimated 

completion date of fall 2012, and a construction budget of 

$26.5 million, which excluded the cost of equipment and capi-

talized interest costs. 

Construction is slightly behind in Dawson City, and we 

will be opening the facility this fall. The total costs complete is 
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$31.8 million, which now includes equipment costs and capital-

ized interest. It was fully anticipated that these costs would also 

be added to the total spending. 

Additional costs related to unanticipated changes to com-

ply with the City of Dawson heritage bylaw requirements also 

increased construction costs. 

To be operationally ready, not only does construction need 

to be complete, we also require the right people working with 

the right equipment and technology, in accordance with the 

right policies and protocols. This is about providing safe and 

excellent patient care.  

The moves into the new hospitals are well planned to en-

sure no lapse in patient care. The corporation is proud to say 

that both locations are fully staffed, awaiting opening, and we 

have secured adequate housing in both locations — with the 

help of the Yukon Housing Corporation — to meet our needs. 

Physicians are an integral part of the health care team, and 

this includes taking on-call, ensuring the hospitals have physi-

cian coverage 24/7 as needed. 

They are extremely pleased that we will be able to keep 

patients in the community and bring them back sooner. Dawson 

City has a dedicated team of physicians excited to occupy the 

new hospital and clinic facilities and committed to the corpora-

tion’s physician privileging process as mandated by the Yukon 

Hospital Act. 

The Watson Lake physician issue is currently being ad-

dressed through the Department of Health and Social Services, 

the corporation, the Yukon Medical Council and the Yukon 

Medical Association. All that said, many of the initial risks 

identified by the OAG related to the hospital projects in terms 

of staffing, housing and program have been mitigated to date or 

are in the process of being addressed. Moving forward, we will 

build on the needs assessment. 

The corporation, in partnership with the Department of 

Health and Social Services, is committed to ongoing program 

review and evaluation to ensure services adapt to the changing 

health care environment and to offer ongoing appropriate and 

quality patient care while balancing sustainability of the health 

care system. As noted, flexibility and design of the facilities 

allow flexibility in service delivery.  

A comprehensive needs assessment action plan has been 

developed in response to the report of the OAG, wherein the 

Auditor General raised concerns with respect to the needs as-

sessment that underpins the Watson Lake and Dawson City 

facilities and the services provided to the catchment popula-

tions.  The Department of Health and Social Services and the 

corporation have secured an independent consultant to conduct 

an updated and detailed facility functional program informed 

by an assessment of the population needs for health care ser-

vices. This independent assessment will build on the original 

needs assessment, completed by the corporation, which origi-

nally focused on hospital services. 

The OAG’s report also contained helpful recommenda-

tions on documenting the appropriate contracting policy, as 

well as information analysis that supports decisions made to 

proceed with capital projects. In January 2012, the corporation 

implemented a new contracting policy and continues to work 

on improving process documentation for the awarding of con-

tracts and capital project administration. This policy is built on 

the premise that the corporation strives to carry out contract 

activities in a fair, fiscally responsible, accountable, open and 

competitive manner. This policy ensures that the corporation 

has clearly defined methods of soliciting competitive bids from 

vendors and/or contractors. It provides a guideline for the pro-

curement of all operations and maintenance and capital goods 

and services for the corporation.  

Key elements of the policy include competitive versus 

non-competitive procurement criteria, procurement method 

definitions and options, and governance surrounding sole-

source justification. The new policies are being used on current 

major capital projects as they near finalization.  

The corporation is also implementing a project manage-

ment gating process which will apply to varying degrees on 

projects, depending on their scope. Certain projects with broad 

health care impacts will be done in collaboration with Health 

and Social Services. The process includes guidelines for docu-

mentation and retention of information and analysis that sup-

ports decisions to proceed with capital projects.  

In closing, trends are clear — Yukon is growing, the popu-

lation is aging, and health care is increasing in complexity and 

is ever dynamic. The corporation is continuing to invest in 

people, systems and facilities to ensure we meet our mission of 

safe and excellent hospital care. This report from the OAG has 

given us valuable recommendations to make certain course 

corrections to better deliver on our mission. Thank you, Mad-

am Chair. 

Our team and I would be pleased to answer any questions 

the committee may have at the appropriate time. 

Ms. Hanson:    Thank you, Mr. Bilsky, and I think 

you’ll find that during the course of the hearings we will touch 

on many of the matters that you have raised in your opening 

statements. I’d now like to turn to Paddy Meade, Deputy Min-

ister of Health and Social Services, for opening comments. 

Ms. Meade:      Thank you very much. I’m very pleased 

to appear before the Public Accounts Committee today, and I 

thank the committee for the opportunity to speak to the 2013 

Performance Audit conducted by the Auditor General of Cana-

da on the capital projects for the Yukon Hospital Corporation. I 

would also at this time like to thank the Office of the Auditor 

General. We have a long history of working and dealing with 

audits and for this particular examination of the hospital’s capi-

tal projects and process, as always, the Office of the Auditor 

General’s close examinations provide direction and recommen-

dations on how we as a system can further improve what we do 

and how we do it. 

I have today with me Ms. Sherri Wright, who is the Assis-

tant Deputy Minister for Health and Social Services and Ms. 

Birgitte Hunter, Assistant Deputy Minister of Corporate Ser-

vices in the department.  

When the Auditor General released his report earlier this 

year, there was one specific recommendation that addressed a 

joint issue for the hospital and the Department of Health and 
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Social Services. At that time, both parties accepted the recom-

mendation because we clearly saw it would help us improve the 

way we do things. Then, as now, we see ourselves as very 

much partners, and this recommendation has provided us with a 

good, strong base for an increased collaborative working rela-

tionship, certainly between the Hospital Corporation’s CEO 

Mr. Bilsky and I, as well as our executive teams, and further 

increase general collaboration as a whole.  

All of us are dedicated to building a seamless system for 

patients, and I’m pleased to report, as noted by my colleague, 

the CEO of the Hospital Corporation, that we’ve already com-

menced the collaborative work on the health needs assessment 

within the two communities of Dawson and Watson, building 

on the original work. Going forward, we see ourselves further 

expanding our already existing collaborative relationship as we 

look to responding to broad community care needs in a fully-

integrated manner.  

I certainly am pleased to answer any questions regarding 

the recommendation to the best of my ability and, certainly, if 

you require additional information that I’m not able to provide 

today, we would prepare that and give it to you as quickly as 

possible. Thank you, Madam Chair. 

Ms. Hanson:    I would just like to step back for a se-

cond and outline the process for everybody. The hearing will 

go until noon today. We will take a break until 1:30 p.m., and 

then reconvene at 1:30 p.m., until we have finished with the 

series of questions we have prepared for this hearing. 

That being said, I would like to commence with Mr. Kent. 

He will lead off today, and then we will be moving around the 

room. 

Hon. Mr. Kent:    I would like to take the opportunity 

to thank the individuals across the way for appearing before the 

Public Accounts Committee. Thank you for your work on a 

daily basis in assisting Yukoners with the wide variety of 

health care needs they have. 

I am going to ask a number of questions. They deal pri-

marily with paragraphs 3 through 28 of the Auditor General’s 

report; however, before we begin questions related to the re-

port, I think it would be useful if the witnesses could answer a 

few general questions about the relationship that exists between 

the Government of Yukon, the Department of Health and So-

cial Services and the Yukon Hospital Corporation.  

Paragraphs 3 through 8 of the Auditor General’s report de-

scribed mandates and responsibilities for health care involving 

the Minister of Health and Social Services, the Department of 

Health and Social Services and the Yukon Hospital Corpora-

tion. So my first question is for the record: Could the witnesses 

explain the unique responsibilities of the corporation and the 

department? The second part of that question: Where do their 

responsibilities overlap, and what was the relationship with 

regard to the building of these capital projects? 

Mr. Bilsky:     The Yukon Hospital Corporation was es-

tablished by the Yukon Hospital Act and, according to the act, 

the objectives of the corporation were to supply hospital and 

medical care services in the Yukon Territory. From a patient 

perspective, where we overlap is that patients see a continuum 

of care across their needs from birth to death, so where we 

overlap are the touch points between what I would call hospital 

services, in-patient and outpatient, and services provided by 

Health and Social Services. We see ourselves as partners in 

providing that continuum of care. 

Ms. Meade:      Obviously, the minister has a broader 

oversight on the full health system and is responsible to gov-

ernment on the health care and social needs of Yukoners. Un-

der the Health Act, the minister is also responsible and has re-

sponsibility, through Management Board, for the overall budg-

et, part of which reflects the corporation’s budget, but it is 

within the overall Health ministry. Reporting, however — the 

minister reports through to government and the Hospital Cor-

poration reports through government. There is no matrix re-

sponsibility. This is a relationship partnership that we have and 

clearly our actions — the CEO and I have established that 

through regular monthly meetings ourselves, and now have 

joint executive meetings. When we have issues and things that 

we have a need where there is overlap — for example, in deal-

ing with electronic health, we have a hospital system, physician 

system, but the overall responsibility to lead the coordination 

would be with the department, although there are individual 

entities. So, ours would be more of a “lead-and-negotiate”, but 

it’s not a governance model. 

Hon. Mr. Kent:    Just the second part of that question 

— if one of the witnesses could speak to it: What was the rela-

tionship, or how did the relationship materialize with regard to 

the building of these particular capital projects that the Office 

of the Auditor General focused on? 

Ms. Hunter:      Initially, there was a project team for 

the Watson Lake project, which had a project manager for the 

corporation and one for the department. They worked in col-

laboration on the various issues that related to the transfer as 

far as how employees transferred from one union to another 

union, how we dealt with the transfer of land and working with 

Highways and Public Works. 

We dealt with each of the issues through those two project 

managers, and we had a management agreement that we funded 

and oversaw throughout the beginnings of the Watson Lake 

project. 

Mr. Bilsky:     Certainly from that point forward — 

Watson Lake transfer in 2009-10 and that project team — our 

mandate was to construct a new hospital, if you’re talking 

about the capital construction, and being operationally ready. 

So the corporation’s mandate was to build and construct hospi-

tals and our design, functional planning and needs assessment 

was focused on hospital building, as well as accommodating 

certain health services within the building, as prescribed by 

Health and Social Services. 

Hon. Mr. Kent:    The preamble to the Hospital Act 

says that “the Whitehorse General Hospital … should be oper-

ated by a board independent of the Government.” At the same 

time, the government and the Legislative Assembly are respon-

sible for ensuring “the responsible use of the public property 

and funds, which must be supplied to enable hospitals to oper-
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ate.” This would include the funds provided to the corporation 

by the Assembly.  

Section 10(1) of the Hospital Act says, “The Corporation is 

not an institution of the Government …”, nor is it, “…an agent 

of the Government.” 

So my question for the corporation: Would you be able to 

explain from your perspective how you balance the independ-

ence from government with the accountability for the public 

money that you receive and the services that you provide?  

Mr. Bilsky:     The corporation, as you pointed out, is 

responsible — the minister is responsible for the corporation. 

The main expectation setting is through a letter of expectation, 

meaning the services we provide and the funding that is pro-

vided to fulfill our mandate within that full scope of health care 

within the Yukon. How we balance that is by ensuring that we 

meet that letter of expectation in a sustainable way, with both 

efficiency and effectiveness with safe and quality health care.  

Hon. Mr. Kent:    The next couple of questions are with 

respect to governance. The Hospital Corporation is governed 

by a board of trustees. Section 5 of the Hospital Act requires 

that the persons nominated and subsequently appointed to the 

board of trustees shall be from a wide variety of backgrounds. 

Now that the corporation will be responsible for hospitals in 

Watson Lake and Dawson City, are there any steps that are 

going to be undertaken to ensure that persons from those com-

munities are nominated to sit on the board of trustees? Is any of 

that work underway?  

Mr. Tuton:    Thank you for the question. Obviously, 

the appointments to the board — the Hospital Corporation 

Board of Directors — are made by government. However, the 

Board of Trustees, some time ago, outlined some of the terms 

in our governance document that we’re looking for in members 

and encouraged the government to look at the communities, 

especially around the areas of the two new hospitals. In fact, 

since that date, we now have a sitting member of the corpora-

tion both from Watson Lake and from Dawson City.  

Hon. Mr. Kent:    Besides the possibility of those nom-

inations and, as you mentioned, the two individuals who do sit 

on the board currently from those communities, are any other 

measures being contemplated or taken to ensure that there is 

continued local input into how the hospitals in Watson Lake 

and Dawson City are run?  

Mr. Tuton:    I think that there is ongoing discussion in 

my reporting relationship with the minister, from time to time, 

when appointments become clear that they’re expiring, encour-

aging that the minister continues in his efforts to ensure that we 

do have representation from those two communities. 

In fact, we are going to be going this fall — from the 

board’s perspective — into a review of our governance docu-

ment. That’s one of the areas that we continually get asked 

about when we have our public meetings in both Watson Lake 

and Dawson: How are we going to ensure that there is repre-

sentation from those communities on the corporate board? 

Hon. Mr. Kent:    I’m going to turn now to a number of 

questions that relate directly to the Auditor General’s report. 

Some questions will be for the witnesses and also perhaps a 

couple of questions directed to the Auditor General. 

This is a direct quote from the Auditor General’s report: 

“In September 2008, the Premier announced that the Govern-

ment of Yukon was going to build a new hospital in Watson 

Lake. In April 2009, the Minister of Health and Social Services 

announced the start of a process to also build a new hospital in 

Dawson City.”  

Again, other than indicating that new hospitals were to be 

built, was any direction given by the government as to what 

kinds of facilities or the size of the facility that should be built? 

Mr. Bilsky:     Thank you for the question. I don’t be-

lieve any direction was given as to the size, other than I believe 

direction was given that they would be hospital facilities, which 

was part of the transfer agreement of the Watson Lake hospital.  

Hon. Mr. Kent:    Just a follow-up to that: Would you 

be able to advise the committee as to how the direction was 

given? Was it given verbally or written or was it in a news re-

lease? Are you aware if it was part of a political commitment or 

part of a platform that one of the parties had? 

Mr. Tuton:    I believe, if memory serves me correctly, 

that the direction was given verbally. I don’t believe there was 

any other direction. 

Hon. Mr. Kent:    In paragraphs 13 and 14 of the re-

port, the Auditor General notes that the existing health care 

facilities in both Watson Lake and Dawson City were old — I 

believe Mr. Bilsky touched on this in his opening statement — 

and that upgrading of them would likely not be cost-effective. 

So would both the department and corporation agree that 

the existing facilities needed to be replaced, as was determined 

at the time?  

Mr. Bilsky:     From the corporation’s perspective, from 

the assessments that we had done, part of the statement of in-

tent actually was that in Watson Lake it was determined that 

that building could not be renovated. It was in such a state that 

to bring it up to code and renovate it would be just not fiscally 

responsible. I can’t speak about the health care facility in Daw-

son City, but I believe that was a similar assessment there.  

Ms. Meade:      Yes, the department had an ongoing 

process with the Department of Highways and Public Works. It 

had identified that the Dawson Health Centre had significant 

mechanical, electrical and structural upgrade requirements, and 

it wasn’t energy efficient. Any upgrade to the current structure 

was going to be difficult and costly, so it actually was looked at 

and analyzed as to whether a rebuild was important.  

Hon. Mr. Kent:    I guess where our discussion will fo-

cus now is on what was needed to replace them, so I’ll turn to 

paragraphs 19 through 21 in the report — which speak to the 

functional programs completion for the hospitals. 

The Auditor General had indicated that the corporation en-

gaged a hospital planning consulting firm to help it design the 

hospitals. The Auditor General also reports that corporation 

officials, together with the firm, indicated that they had con-

sulted the communities to determine their health care needs as 

part of the planning for the hospitals. 
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The firm subsequently developed a functional program for 

each hospital. The report indicates, “functional programs are an 

important part of hospital planning...” However, the report con-

cludes that the communities’ health care needs were not fully 

assessed.  So this is actually a question for the Auditor Gen-

eral’s staff. For clarification, could the Auditor General’s staff 

explain why they feel it was important to conduct a health care 

needs assessment as part of planning for the hospitals? 

Mr. Campbell:    Thank you for the question. Yes, we 

do believe — and we have stated in the report — that it is im-

portant to conduct such an assessment of health care needs of 

the community. The services in a hospital would be designed to 

meet those needs, so having a good understanding of those 

needs would allow one to develop services that would meet the 

needs. Once that was done, decision-makers could then assess 

options toward meeting those needs in the most cost-effective 

manner. So, yes, we think it is a fundamental component. 

Hon. Mr. Kent:    The Auditor General’s report goes on 

to say: “Corporation officials told us that they took the request 

from government to build the hospitals as an indication that the 

facilities were required.” It further notes that the corporation 

was not able to provide the Auditor General with any analysis 

of health care needs that it had conducted. For the corporation, 

can you explain to the committee why the corporation did not 

carry out a complete health care needs assessment in each 

community? 

Mr. Bilsky:     The planning and assessment that was 

done for both facilities was concentrated on hospital facilities 

— hospital need and hospital care — and agreed with the Audi-

tor General’s report that it didn’t encompass all health care 

needs within the catchment areas that are cited there. Having 

said that, obviously the implementation plan that we’re bring-

ing forward now is going to build on the needs assessment we 

did from the hospital perspective and look at a broader spec-

trum of health care in the communities and continue to evolve 

within the parameters of the facilities that we build. 

Hon. Mr. Kent:    Similarly, in that part of the Auditor 

General’s report: “We found that, in planning the hospitals, the 

Hospital Corporation met with health professionals, First Na-

tions, seniors, politicians and residents in both Watson Lake 

and Dawson City.”  

“The corporation told us that it did not prepare reports 

from these meetings. We visited most of the groups to obtain 

their perspectives on the meetings… Most of them character-

ized the meetings as information sharing on the Corporation’s 

part as to what the new hospitals would offer rather than infor-

mation gathering.” 

 I have a couple of questions — multiple questions here 

actually. Could the corporation inform the committee as to why 

those reports of those meetings weren’t prepared and who was 

involved in conducting those meetings? I have a subsequent 

question for the Auditor General’s staff as to who the Auditor 

General talked to as part of their review to come to that conclu-

sion.  

Mr. Bilsky:     To provide a more fulsome answer to 

your question, I’m going to ask Maureen Turner, Executive 

Director of Patient Care to provide an answer. 

Ms. Turner:      The planning was composed of a group 

from both Health and Social Services and Yukon Hospital Cor-

poration employees. We met with over 40 different groups or 

people, which did, as you’ve mentioned, include anywhere 

from First Nations to staff to stakeholders. Because the project 

was moving at a fairly quick speed, the meetings — maybe not 

formalized as consultations, but were more discussions about 

needs — were held and then the information was taken back. 

New information was incorporated into the design and then we 

would continue that way. 

The other opportunity for people in the communities, par-

ticularly Watson Lake, was with the management team that we 

referred to earlier and that Birgitte Hunter mentioned. One of 

the members actually stayed in Watson Lake for three months, 

so there was ongoing opportunity for input from the communi-

ty as well as the staff there, and the community members could 

come and speak to them.  

Dawson City was done in a similar manner. It wasn’t a 

transfer of employees; it was a new program. From there, we 

went and did a similar kind of consultation or meetings with 

the different groups. Again, about 40 different meetings were 

held.  

Ms. Sullivan:      We met with people in both Dawson 

City and Watson Lake, so we met with health professionals, 

including physicians, nurses and admin staff. We met with First 

Nations in both communities. We met with seniors groups and 

we met with the mayor of each community, as well as council 

in Watson Lake. 

 Hon. Mr. Kent:    Just a follow-up then for the Auditor 

General: Did you — and I apologize if they are attached as an 

appendix to your report — prepare reports from those meetings 

that the committee could look at, or are they attached to the 

audit? 

Mr. Campbell:     Thank you for the question. Yes, we 

take notes of all of our meetings. These are part of our evidence 

files, which are not public documents, but they lead us to the 

conclusions that we’ve made, and those conclusions we stand 

behind. 

Hon. Mr. Kent:    You said they are not public docu-

ments, Mr. Campbell? 

Mr. Campbell:     That’s correct. 

Hon. Mr. Kent:    Just moving on, in paragraph 27, the 

Auditor General says: “We found evidence that the Corporation 

and the Department collaborated on determining how services 

would be delivered, such as coordinating the shared delivery of 

a nutrition course, but not on determining the health care needs 

of the communities.” The next three questions focus on that 

paragraph. 

The first one: How did the corporation and the department 

agree to collaborate on how services would be delivered prior 

to determining the health care needs of the community? 

Ms. Meade:      I will attempt this one. I wasn’t present, 

so I’m trying to capture the history. There were, as mentioned, 
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planning meetings set up. In looking at the needs, it was more 

around the needs of the actual physical structure and what 

needs to be there — the number of bids. The planning was on 

the functional planning. As has been said, because this was a 

hospital facility, the lead was the corporation in doing that.  

So the services were at a broad, general level. There would 

be trauma and the clinic would be in there, but it wasn’t into 

the full detail at that stage of what the actual integrated delivery 

and where the connections needed to be between an acute facil-

ity and the community. My colleague has said that the building 

was built with that flexibility, because we were also looking at 

what the needs would be as we went forward. We did agree 

that there wasn’t a full needs assessment done, as the Auditor 

General has reported, and that’s what we have just initiated.  

Mr. Bilsky:     I concur with my colleague’s assessment. 

The functional planning was around hospital standards and 

protocols necessary, which create a minimum standard of care 

that is necessary.  

Having said that, as a risk management tactic, we knew 

that it was built in such a flexible way — and keep in mind 

health care is ever dynamic and evolving — so even what was 

known three years ago is different from today. As we continue 

evolving in the future we have that ability to continue this and 

that is our intent. 

Hon. Mr. Kent:    Was there a point at which the corpo-

ration or the department or both considered conducting that 

needs assessment but decided not to during the development of 

this? I understand, of course, that neither Ms. Meade nor Mr. 

Bilsky was in their current position at that time. 

Ms. Meade:      I don’t think they were even using the 

language around that; they were looking at the planning. Part of 

that, quite frankly, is a capacity issue in the Yukon — the un-

derstanding of what would be required in this kind of a go-

forward and again. The Auditor General has pointed that out to 

us and we’re looking at building that capacity. So I don’t think 

it was a matter of would we or wouldn’t we do a needs assess-

ment. I think in good faith that’s what the folks at the time 

thought they were doing without the understanding of best 

practice and what is current. Even in needs assessment, this has 

evolved, and I think the Auditor General would agree with me, 

even in the last short time frame. So we now have advantage of 

that best practice in Canada and the ability to go forward on 

that.  

Hon. Mr. Kent:    Can either the corporation or the de-

partment tell the Committee what kind of information is main-

tained on health services provided in the communities and per-

haps a little bit more on how the information is gathered?  

I know we touched on that in our previous hearing last Oc-

tober as well, but perhaps could we have an update with respect 

to the services provided in the communities and how that in-

formation is gathered? 

Ms. Meade:      I’m going to start and I’m going to ask 

the Acting Deputy minister of Health and Social Services. First 

of all, we have a limited ability to draw data here — that’s just 

a capacity issue — and also some of the national data doesn’t 

drill down to Yukon because it becomes so small it becomes 

too much to an identifier either by community or personnel. 

However, we do collect data on health status and we have just 

recently had our medical officer of health issue his report. This 

one was focused on youth, but we look at key determinates 

around addictions, mental health issues, tobacco use, issues 

around lifestyle that all drive health care and then specifics.  

We have started our needs assessment. The first piece of 

that is to drill down on more detail of the data that we do have 

— a lot of that we provide through CIHI, the Canadian Institute 

of Health Information. Maybe Sherri, if you could just add a bit 

on the kind of data that we do look at in general. One commit-

ment on this is that the use of this data is something that the 

minister has asked me to look at as far as starting to address 

outcomes not outputs, and this will be a couple of years’ pro-

cess to develop the kind of data that we need and how we’re 

going to drill down to get to that. Sherri, could you just give 

some example, please? 

Ms. Wright:      We have data on physician-patient en-

counters, so physicians who either bill the health care insurance 

plan for their services or are on contract to provide services. 

We have encounter information about what services they are 

providing in the communities. We have medical travel data, so 

medevac data as well as standard routine medical travel infor-

mation. We have nurse-encounter information where we have 

health centres operating, or in the case of the formal Watson 

Lake Cottage Hospital, as it is often referred to, we have histor-

ical data around nursing encounters with patients there. We 

also have a great deal of demographic information that we draw 

from our health care registration system: age, sex, place where 

people live, their communities and that kind of thing. 

Ms. Meade:      I would just add that one of the ad-

vantages of having health and social services together is that 

we also look at the social side of the data, so we do have in-

formation from issues around status and those who require wel-

fare. So there is an economic understanding that does tie into 

health status. We look at some of the data around economics 

and employment rates, and we do deal with education on some 

initiatives, so we are accessing information around schooling 

— both readiness for school and attendance and others. All of 

those give you an idea around the general health status of a 

community. We have addictions and mental health information 

specific within the department as well as child welfare. 

Hon. Mr. Kent:    I have one final question before I 

turn the floor over to other colleagues. Again, it relates to para-

graph 28. The Auditor General stated that at the time, “The 

Yukon Hospital Corporation faced a number of challenges in 

managing several large capital projects at the same time.” It 

goes on further to state that, “While the hospitals have been 

designed to provide services that the communities may benefit 

from, the Corporation missed an opportunity to determine the 

services most needed by the communities so that they could 

then design and build facilities that would meet those needs in 

the most cost-effective manner.”  

Once the corporation was tasked with building the build-

ings — and I know you’ve touched on this in a couple of your 

other answers — could you just explain why it didn’t take ad-
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vantage of the opportunity the Auditor General speaks of, and 

perhaps for the record you can also inform the committee — I 

know that you put together an implementation plan as well — 

about the next steps as further health care facilities are built. 

What do you plan to do as far as correcting that missed oppor-

tunity? 

Mr. Bilsky:     That was a multi-faceted question. Could 

I get you to repeat it? There were several pieces to it.  

Hon. Mr. Kent:    So, once the corporation was tasked 

with building the hospitals, why did it not take advantage of the 

opportunity the Auditor General speaks of — that is, to deter-

mine the services most needed by the communities so that the 

design of the facility could meet those needs in the most cost-

effective manner?  

I guess the second part perhaps relates to your implementa-

tion plan and what plans you have going forward. I’ve read 

through that, but I would appreciate it if you could put some of 

that on the record.  

Ms. Hanson:    If I may, we will have more detailed 

questions with respect to the actual plan at a later part of this 

hearing as well. So, perhaps to keep this going forward, we 

might want to focus on the questions. 

Mr. Bilsky:     Absolutely. I have to state that the ser-

vices most needed — or the assessment of the services most 

needed — when we start talking about hospital facilities — it’s 

basically a transfer of hospital services from Watson Lake to a 

facility. So those haven’t changed. There have been some im-

proved services but, essentially, we operate a hospital there.  

Dawson City was mirrored after the Watson Lake hospital 

from a hospital services perspective, so that’s a change from a 

clinic to full hospital services.  

The design of the building was to ensure that it could meet 

those standards that we had. Implementation going forward — 

some of the corrections we made would have been around col-

laborating more with Health and Social Services to ensure that 

broader Yukon health care needs are assessed, not just from a 

hospital perspective, as well as some of the procurement poli-

cies and procedures we have — making sure that we’ve created 

the appropriate documentation to support decisions and going 

forward also that we use different decision points to ensure that 

we’ve done that analysis. 

Mr. Hassard:    Thank you, Madam Chair, and thank 

you all for joining us here today. My questions will be based on 

paragraphs 30 through 41 of the Auditor General’s report. 

In paragraph 30, the Auditor General says: “We found that 

the Corporation had not evaluated options on how to meet resi-

dents’ health care needs most cost-effectively. Such options 

could have included, for example, continuing to operate the 

Watson Lake Hospital as a cottage hospital or operating it as a 

hospital with increased acute services; another example would 

be continuing to operate the Dawson City Hospital with an 

expanded role for nurses or operating it as a physician-based 

model of care. However, we found no evidence that the Corpo-

ration had analyzed such options. We also found that the Cor-

poration did not analyze existing health care information that it 

could have used in evaluating options. For example, although 

the Corporation has claimed that having more comprehensive 

care in the communities will benefit residents by resulting in 

less medical travel to Whitehorse and outside the territory, it 

did not analyze the amount of medical travel that had taken 

place in the communities previously, the reasons the travel oc-

curred, or how it anticipates that the services to be provided in 

the new hospitals would reduce that travel.” 

So my question then would be: Are there any reasons why 

the corporation chose not to analyze health care information 

that would point to what the needs in the communities have 

been and may be projected to be?  

Mr. Bilsky:     My comment would be that — and it’s 

probably contrary to exactly what the Auditor General is saying 

— there were some assessments made — as an example, ex-

panded-scope nursing. As far as expanded-scope nursing and 

utilization within an acute care facility, we had looked across 

Canada and had not found that expanded-scope nursing was 

used widely within an acute care facility and that for us to open 

a hospital we would go with a general duty nurse, physician-

supervised, and that was the safest way we could open a hospi-

tal. 

So that’s an example, I think, of the assessment we have 

made in those circumstances. 

Mr. Hassard:    So did the corporation ever consider 

options other than building hospitals, like using other models of 

care or a different number of in-patient and emergency beds? 

Mr. Bilsky:     Once it was determined that we had a 

mandate to build the hospital, we looked at the size of the facil-

ities and patterned what we were doing with Watson Lake — 

the size and the statistics we had there — and how best to ser-

vice that area from an acute care facility and also use that as a 

pattern for Dawson City — meaning similar-sized communi-

ties, similar-sized statistics and making sure that we had a facil-

ity that would be flexible enough to meet our needs in the fu-

ture. 

Mr. Hassard:    In paragraph 31, the Auditor General 

says: “We also found that the Corporation did not analyze the 

ongoing financial resources needed to operate the hospitals 

before starting to build them.” 

Projecting operation and maintenance costs is a standard 

way of determining the total cost of a facility over its life cycle. 

So why, then, did the corporation not undertake that kind of 

analysis and provide it to the department before starting to 

build the hospitals, as the department would have to fund any 

additional costs?  

Mr. Bilsky:     The determination was to replace two ag-

ing facilities and the determination was to replace them with 

acute care hospital facilities — one was a replacement of a 

hospital facility and the other being an upgrade in service to an 

acute care facility. That was done, I believe, in 2009. So that 

was the first decision to replace hospitals.  

In 2010, as we were finding everything that was necessary 

to operate the hospital, we delivered operating budgets that 

were very close to what we have today as far as what we were 

expecting those hospitals to continue to operate under.  
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Mr. Hassard:    The next couple of questions are in re-

gard to paragraphs 33 and 34 of the report that describe the 

hospitals in Watson Lake and Dawson City as being very simi-

lar in terms of the number of beds available and the services 

they will offer. So, without a health care needs assessment, 

how was it decided what services would be provided at each 

hospital, and in what manner? Was there a sense that each 

community was entitled to the same type of facility even if 

their needs were not known, because they could be completely 

different? 

Mr. Bilsky:     I’ll start to answer that question. I’m go-

ing to ask my colleague Maureen Turner to complete the an-

swer. To answer the last part of the question, I don’t recollect 

or I don’t believe there was a sense that each community was 

entitled to the exact same facility. I do know that they are simi-

lar sized communities and I do know that as far as utilization of 

the Watson Lake hospital, we were going to construct some-

thing that was similar in nature as far as its capacity in Watson 

Lake. That was also used to determine what would be appro-

priate for Dawson City, but it wasn’t, to my knowledge, a sense 

that they were entitled to a similar type of facility. It was based 

on what we think utilization and standards of care were within 

the two communities. 

Ms. Turner:     Yes, just to add to that, as mentioned, 

they were both similar sizes in terms of communities. Watson 

Lake hospital was already established and with the program-

mers who came, RPG was able to sit down and meet with staff 

and community members to look at what was in existence in 

terms of the hospital programming — as well as with hospital 

standards when you’re designing, because there are national 

standards of what you would expect to put into hospitals re-

gardless of the size and infrastructure required — and deter-

mine what would be needed in Watson. The same planners 

were also involved with the Dawson programming and conse-

quently had the advantage of looking at what the small com-

munities in the Yukon were expecting. 

It wasn’t a matter of entitlement, but it did answer the 

question of what would be expected in a hospital in communi-

ties this size with very similar needs. 

Mr. Hassard:    So, from that, I believe that these hos-

pitals are relatively the same size — the one in Watson Lake 

and the one in Dawson City. I’m assuming that. If that’s not 

correct, you can correct me on that. 

How do they compare in size to the original facilities, and 

what extra services would be provided in the new facilities as 

opposed to the existing? 

Mr. Bilsky:     Again, I’ll begin this answer, and I’ll ask 

my colleague, Maureen Turner, to complete the answer.  

The Watson Lake facility has very similar services to the 

ones comprised today, meaning six in-patient beds and six out-

patient beds, trauma centre and some ambulatory care facilities, 

as well as some public health space that’s allowed for. In addi-

tion, it will include clinic space, which doesn’t currently exist 

in Watson Lake, as well as retail pharmacy space, which is 

unrelated to the hospital services, which will also be included 

in that building. It increases the size of the current building by 

about 40 percent.  

Dawson City is a new building. If you want to compare — 

it is an apples to oranges comparison, because you are talking 

about a facility that may be 500 square metres going to 3200 

square metres. So, percentage-wise, that is about 600 percent. 

Having said that, it is going to take in six in-patient beds, six 

outpatient beds, ambulatory care, public health facilities clinic, 

as well as an office for EMS and administrative space. So it’s a 

substantial increase to the size of the building. Maybe I can ask 

Maureen Turner to comment a little bit more eloquently on the 

services that will be provided. 

Ms. Turner:      Just to be a little more specific, we do 

have numbers in terms of the two buildings. Watson Lake is 

currently functioning in a building that is 1711 square metres. 

The new building will be 2600 square metres, so that is signifi-

cantly different and improved in terms of space. Dawson City 

currently, in the health centre, is very small — only 526 square 

metres. We are now putting similar and all of the hospital ser-

vices into a new building that’s going to be 3200 square metres. 

So there is a bit of a difference between the two buildings, 

based on some of the design and infrastructure needed.  

As far as services go at the Watson Lake hospital, when 

we transferred over, we kept all the existing services. As Mr. 

Bilsky mentioned, we’ve improved a few of the things. We’ve 

added a few programs, such as lab X-ray, which wasn’t there 

before, and the First Nation health program, which was also not 

in the existing hospital. In the new building, we’ll be able to 

offer even further services based on the ability to do that within 

a building that has space for things such as therapies and stuff 

like that.  

The programs in Dawson City — of course, it is going 

from a health centre which offers acute care, stabilization and 

public health, but what we are building is an acute care hospi-

tal, so we end up with all of the programs, as mentioned — in-

patient and outpatient ones with the services, such as lab X-ray, 

and the ability to keep the patients overnight in in-patient beds. 

New equipment will be going into the new one in Dawson, so 

that in itself will also help with the new diagnostic ability.  

Mr. Hassard:    In paragraph 37 the Auditor General 

recommended, “The Yukon Hospital Corporation, in collabora-

tion with the Department of Health and Social Services, should 

conduct a health care needs assessment in the communities of 

Watson Lake and Dawson City. The information gathered in 

this exercise should then be used to ensure that the services 

delivered in the hospitals are designed to meet the communi-

ties’ needs in the most cost-effective way possible.” 

The corporation agreed and responded that, “A more com-

prehensive needs assessment would improve the ability to en-

sure the appropriate decisions regarding effective programs for 

the new hospitals.” 

It also felt, “The design of both hospitals allows for future 

changes in use and programming.” 

The corporation also noted that it “… will collaborate with 

stakeholders to review current and future programming and 
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provide opportunities for community input”, and is “committed 

to ongoing program assessments.” 

The Department of Health and Social Services agreed and 

responded that as a part of regular meetings, it “… will collabo-

rate on assessing the health care needs of the communities of 

Watson Lake and Dawson City, where both the Department 

and the Corporation provide services.” 

My question then is to the Auditor General’s staff: Why 

does the Auditor General believe it is important to conduct a 

health care needs assessment in the communities even though 

construction of the hospitals is nearing completion? 

Mr. Campbell:     Thank you for the question. We be-

lieve that such an assessment is important, given the fact that it 

wasn’t done before the hospitals were designed and built. It’s 

really important that the Hospital Corporation get the best out 

of the facility they’ve constructed. As Mr. Bilsky mentioned, 

they believe they have flexibilities within how they’ve de-

signed it. On an ongoing basis, it’s really important to make 

sure they get the best out of the building that they built moving 

forward. 

Mr. Silver:    Is it usual for a health care facility to be 

built prior to determining the model of care that will be used 

for that facility? 

Mr. Campbell:     Thank you for that question also. We 

haven’t done the type of research that would provide a specific 

answer to that in terms of what normal is in terms of building 

hospitals. We don’t audit the building of new hospitals on a 

daily basis. What I would say though is that, in making deci-

sions that involve spending of public funds — regardless of 

whether it’s a hospital or anything else — we believe that there 

are key questions that need to be asked and answered before 

decisions are made to spend public funds. I think that included 

in such questions would be questions around the functionality 

of what you’re building and also anything that could have im-

plications on that cost of what you’re building.  

I think that, in all probability, within a hospital, the func-

tionality and the cost that would be driven from that would 

include, among other things, how you are actually going to 

operate the building. 

Mr. Hassard:    My next line of questioning is based 

around the action plan. On May 31, the corporation and the 

department provided the Public Accounts Committee with its 

action plan on the recommendations. It was noted that an inde-

pendent consultant was secured to conduct an updated and de-

tailed facility functional program informed by a high-quality 

assessment of the needs for health care services. The action 

plan notes that the independent assessment will build upon the 

original needs assessment completed by the corporation. As 

there was no such assessment, is the corporation then referring 

to the functional plan? 

Ms. Meade:      If you don’t mind, Madam Chair, I’ll 

answer this question. 

We recognize that a needs assessment in the formal sense 

wasn’t conducted, but there was data collected and we have the 

luxury of since looking at data within the department. So we 

are going to build, instead of starting from scratch, on what we 

already have, because we’ve been looking at information — as 

well as not doing a full consultation, but doing targeted consul-

tation, because we already have built and we have information 

on what they have. 

The consultants are looking at all of the CIHI data that our 

department has and then moving to what the corporation has. 

We have already worked with the corporation around the peo-

ple who had meetings and who the people were who had been 

at public forums and who are the key stakeholders. That is the 

plan going forward. Right now, the first part is to analyze the 

existing data — what was done and what we actually can get 

greater access to — again, through CIHI.  

The other issue is that health care does evolve and what 

goes into an existing hospital, whether that hospital is 100 

years old or 50 years old, is continuing to evolve. So there is a 

needs assessment, but this is also a process that we would do 

on an ongoing basis to evaluate programs. This needs assess-

ment will go beyond the walls of the hospital because health 

care does, so it will also inform the department around how we 

can integrate both health and social services and what we need 

to with our linkages to the acute facility. So, over time, what is 

delivered changes, both by medicine — many things that used 

to be in tertiary hospitals could now be done in acute, and what 

had to be in main facilities could now be done on an outpatient 

basis. There is a great move in health care to community and 

community delivery with the use of primary care providers. We 

are building from a state and time of what was done. A needs 

assessment — yes, it wasn’t done correctly. We agreed with the 

Auditor General.  

But we did have some information to build on, so that’s 

where the consultant is beginning, but there will be, inclusive 

of that in our plan — identifying that stakeholder engagement 

and ensuring that we are informing. This is building as well on 

what the department has to do on a go-forward basis, anyway, 

to start to set the benchmark. So there will be lessons learned 

from the Watson Lake and Dawson City broad community as-

sessment. This is also going to drive our look at — of course, 

incorporation with the Hospital Corporation — where we need 

to go with options for future delivery and how we need to be, 

but it will be ongoing. 

Even if you operate a facility, you evaluate at a year and 

two years what’s coming in the door, even if you had a full 

needs assessment. So this is doing a full needs assessment, 

building on what we have and also starting us on the evaluation 

and setting the stage beyond Watson Lake and Dawson City. 

So I think we have agreed it’s a very good opportunity for us to 

look at health care in the future for the Yukon. 

Mr. Hassard:    The description of the operational 

phase of the project also notes that this phase will augment 

earlier data and document collection. Can you please advise us 

what this is referring to? 

Ms. Meade:      There was some data collected and used 

by the corporation. I think they’ve spoken to that — that the 

department looked at it.  
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This is a further drilling down — again, using best practice 

for a needs assessment. So some of the data we do have, which 

we probably didn’t look at, was already mentioned.  

We have access to medical data. Did we really drill down 

to say what is actually going to be the impact or could be the 

impact? We have data on our community and long-term care 

side that looks at respite, et cetera. So there are other things — 

if we’re going to do this, as the Auditor General said, in a more 

holistic way — that we will now use that goes beyond what 

you would look at if you were building simply an acute centre. 

I think we’ve agreed to look at this as — you know, patients 

don’t stay in walls. They move back and forth, and we’re trying 

to be much more holistic in our look at this.  

Mr. Hassard:    The action plan also notes that the an-

ticipated timeline for completion of the project is September 

2013. Can the corporation provide the committee with the re-

port on the assessment when it’s completed?  

Ms. Meade:      It’s a joint report, and it would go to 

both the minister and the board, and then we know that this 

would be a public document, but it would be the Minister of 

Health and Social Services who will bring it forward.  

Ms. Hanson:    I’ll be doing the next series of questions. 

I do have one follow-up on Mr. Hassard’s questions with re-

spect to the action plan.  

In the context of the earlier reference to data and the col-

lection of information, and picking up on your comment, Ms. 

Meade, that patients don’t fit in neat silos — when the Auditor 

General did the audit on Health and Social Services — and we 

had a hearing here in October — there were consistent issues 

raised with respect to sharing of information, particularly 

health-related information between the hospital, Health and 

Social Services — and then you compound that with the federal 

jurisdiction with aboriginal patients who are under the auspices 

of the federal government in terms of provision of services, can 

you tell us how the process that is outlined in the action plan is 

addressing that — the multi-faceted nature when we’re talking 

about patient-centred care in the design of this action plan? 

Ms. Meade:      Information sharing is usually limited to 

where you’re doing patient disclosures. So, a lot of this infor-

mation — we can mask the patient disclosure for us to look at 

it; we don’t need to show patient disclosures. That makes it 

easier to share. Quite frankly, on this kind of research, you just 

enter into an agreement, as long as you’re not sharing patient 

health information between the corporation and us. The Audi-

tor General’s reference though is something that in the depart-

ment we’re working on under our e-health strategy and certain-

ly coming forward with our health information act in some of 

those issues.  

It’s a parallel process, but for this project we have the abil-

ity to mask anything that would limit our sharing. As far as 

First Nation information, because they are served here, it’s a 

billing issue to the federal government and we have access 

around patients. You find that information, as Ms. Wright said, 

through patient encounters, whether that’s with nursing stations 

or through — we don’t have to pull up patient identifiers, but 

we can also mask them, so we will be able to get around that 

for this process. 

Ms. Hanson:    Just one final one, with respect to that. It 

talks about developing a therapies model to best serve the Wat-

son and Dawson catchment areas and being committed to on-

going program assessments. If we look at, in particular, how to 

determine what ongoing services, or new services, and the 

needs that are required, if the information is not shared, or is 

being shared — with respect to, for example, diabetes, dialysis 

— is that built into this to ensure that those kinds of data will 

be available for decision makers? 

Ms. Meade:      It won’t be available for decision mak-

ers as far as publicly disclosing because then I’m looking at 

small populations and I’m starting to give patient information 

even if I ask — for the purpose of this, it would be roll-ups to 

say here is the priority — so prevalence of mental health and 

addictions, level of mental health. Are we talking about depres-

sion? Are we talking about some more schizophrenia and other 

behavioural issues? What’s the level of addictions? Are there 

issues around complex chronic disease? Those are the types of 

things, but they will be rolled out. 

As far as a report, my anticipation of the report would be 

that this will come out saying, “Here are your priorities.” There 

will always be prevalence about anything in a community. 

What are the priorities and what do we have to design on them? 

The analysis then for the operation will be what’s the best and 

most efficient way to deliver that and what is the current best 

practice, which continues to evolve — whether this requires 

different providers and, in our case, how much can we use 

around maximizing the specialist pools and other types of 

things and can they use telehealth? 

All of that will come in and it may come in over time as 

we build the capacity and look at this, so there will be infor-

mation around what you can build. Even on driving the clinic 

side, we have fairly traditional clinics, but discussions have 

already been — I’ll just give an example; I’m not saying the 

communities have this, but if it was around addictions and 

mental health, have we really, as a department, integrated well 

enough and made clean, seamless referrals between primary 

care physicians through addictions and mental health support? 

We can always improve on that. That’s why the needs assess-

ment will bleed in and out of the walls of an acute facility. 

Ms. Hanson:    Mr. Hassard is, in fact, not finished yet. 

Mr. Hassard:    I just had two more questions regarding 

the risks of building the hospitals, and one is for the Auditor 

General’s staff and one is for the corporation. 

In paragraph 41, the Auditor General reports that “The 

Corporation and the Department could not provide us with 

documented risk analysis to show that they had identified and 

assessed risks before beginning to build the hospitals. Instead, 

they identified and assessed risks and developed mitigation 

strategies for them at the same time as the Corporation was 

beginning to build the hospitals.” 

My first question would be to the Auditor General’s staff: 

Why do you believe that it was important to identify and assess 

risks prior to beginning the building of the hospitals? 
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Mr. Hellsten:    Thank you for the question. Yes, we 

believe that it is important to identify and assess risks prior to 

beginning projects. A risk assessment would make it clear from 

the outset what the major challenges were for the hospital pro-

jects. By assessing these risks, this would also lead to develop-

ing mitigation strategies to address the risks. These strategies 

would then lead to potential changes to the project’s scope and 

timing of the projects, as well as costs of the projects and, in 

addition, potential changes as to how the hospitals would oper-

ate. 

Mr. Hassard:    My last question, then, would be to the 

corporation: Why did you not identify, assess and develop mit-

igation strategies for these risks at an earlier time?  

Mr. Bilsky:     The timing of the risk assessment — the 

risk assessment for us was an ongoing process. For certain, 

there is risk involved both in the operation of the hospital, as 

well as construction. From a construction perspective, we defi-

nitely put in place management strategies from a risk perspec-

tive — things such as internal design and engineering expertise, 

tender and RFP process, third-party verification of progress and 

specifications, bonding company backing of the general con-

tractor, site rep oversight, project management expertise, statu-

tory declaration processes and, unfortunately, legal counsel. 

Those are all meant to mitigate risk from a project perspective.  

From an operational perspective, it really comes back to 

identifying what those risks were, and we did that concurrently 

with building the hospital, albeit not in a consolidated form at 

the front end of the project. Some of the risks that were identi-

fied — staffing, housing, physician recruitment. Hopefully, to 

build on the comments I made in my opening statement, we 

have mitigated most of those risks but, admittedly, we did not 

fully assess the risks at the front end of the project. 

Ms. Hanson:    Paragraph 42 says that the corporation 

officials considered three risks associated with building the 

hospitals: program delivery, staffing and funding. So I have a 

series of questions that will address those areas. 

In paragraph 43, the Auditor General reports “…the Cor-

poration has taken steps to address the risk of not being able to 

deliver good-quality programs by working to have the hospitals 

accredited. The Corporation completed an accreditation primer 

for the Watson Lake Hospital in May 2012…”  

“Completing an accreditation primer is a good first step in 

addressing the risk of not being able to deliver quality pro-

grams. However, if other risks, such as staffing, are not ade-

quately managed, they could negatively affect the Corpora-

tion’s ability to have the hospitals become fully accredited.” 

My first question: Could the corporation describe what ac-

creditation involves and why it is important for a hospital to be 

accredited? As an addendum to that, could you tell us who par-

ticipated in that process? Was it a vertical or horizontal sort of 

slice of the organization?  

Mr. Bilsky:     The process for accreditation is quite in-

volved. It’s through Accreditation Canada and it’s the most 

effective way for us who provide health care services to regu-

late and consistently examine and improve the quality of our 

service, considered to be best practices and standards of prac-

tice and also learning opportunities for where we can improve. 

The actual process itself is a three- to a four-year cycle and it 

involves the organization preparing for it, meaning there are 

certain areas of the organization —which is all-encompassing 

in the organization actually, but the different pieces of it, ensur-

ing that we understand and are employing best practices. Then 

there is a survey period for external parties to come in and as-

sess our compliance with those best practices. At that point, it 

is determined whether we’ve met any type of accreditation 

standard. 

With Watson Lake, the primer — and I’m sorry I don’t 

have the exact date of the primer — actually it was in 2012 that 

Watson Lake went through a primer to prepare for that and 

then we will go through another assessment period here in early 

2014 — I believe it’s in May — which will include Watson 

Lake fully and Whitehorse General Hospital fully, but not 

Dawson City yet because we won’t be fully operational by that 

time and at that point they will go through not just a primer, but 

a full accreditation survey.  

With respect to your question about who’s involved, I was 

not involved in the last one, but based on documents I’ve re-

viewed and understanding our preparation, the entire organiza-

tion is involved right from the Board of Trustees through to 

front-line people who actually touch patients in almost every 

capacity. It’s a large undertaking, but worthwhile. 

Ms. Hanson:    You had mentioned, and I just want to 

confirm with you, whether or not the corporation has undertak-

en an accreditation primer for the Dawson City hospital. Could 

you just confirm again what is the next step with respect to 

Watson Lake? 

Mr. Bilsky:     The next step for Watson Lake — 

Ms. Hanson:    Well, the first was with Dawson City 

and the timing — you mentioned what has to happen before it 

could occur there — and, secondly, the next step with respect 

to Watson Lake. 

Mr. Bilsky:     Just to clarify, you are speaking about 

accreditation — correct? 

I’ll ask Maureen Turner, Executive Director of Patient 

Care, to speak about Dawson City and its readiness for accredi-

tation. Watson Lake itself is fully participatory right now as 

Yukon Hospital Corporation’s umbrella from an accreditation 

perspective. So it will be participating in all the preparation, all 

the surveys — meaning both what I would call paper survey as 

well as when the surveyors are on-site. There will be a team of 

surveyors who visit Watson Lake, assess their protocol proce-

dure and operations from an accreditation standards perspec-

tive.  

Dawson City, as far as operational readiness — as I said, 

I’ll ask Maureen Turner to speak to what the next step is for 

Dawson City.  

Ms. Turner:      Yes, so with Accreditation Canada, 

when they do surveys for corporations, they will look at the 

different sites, but it would be the corporation as a whole that 

would be accredited. As mentioned, Watson Lake is now up 

and going, and Whitehorse General Hospital certainly has been 

accredited since the 1950s.  
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Dawson won’t be ready and they don’t expect to do ac-

creditation on any brand new hospitals within that first year of 

operations. They exempt us basically, providing us the ability 

to really get our programs up and running and fully operating. 

We may be ready then, because it is a three — it will be even-

tually a four-year cycle. We probably would be ready for a full 

accreditation certainly by the next round, which we expect 

would be in 2018.  

Ms. Hanson:    So my next question: Does the corpora-

tion believe that the hospitals will become fully accredited and, 

if so, could you confirm for us how long that process might 

take?  

Mr. Bilsky:     It is our expectation that the Yukon Hos-

pital Corporation, including the sites of Watson Lake and 

Whitehorse, will be fully accredited after this survey period, 

and Whitehorse hospital is fully accredited today. 

Just to clarify regarding Dawson City — although it won’t 

be included either in a primer or a full survey, we do make sure 

that policy protocol procedure that we employ across the Yu-

kon Hospital Corporation is consistent in all locations. Alt-

hough it may not be surveyed, it’s our intent to ensure that 

there is consistency across.  

Ms. Hanson:    So would an inability to receive accredi-

tation adversely affect the corporation’s ability to recruit medi-

cal or any other staff?  

Mr. Bilsky:     It could have an adverse effect. As I stat-

ed, I’m expecting accreditation.  

Ms. Hanson:    In paragraph 44, the report notes that 

“…the Corporation and the Department have made efforts to 

manage the staffing risk. For example, the Corporation worked 

to successfully become one of Canada’s top 100 employers in 

an effort to attract new employees by increasing its profile as 

an employer and showing the benefits of working for the Cor-

poration. To manage the staffing risk associated with the trans-

fer of employees from the Department to the Corporation for 

the existing Watson Lake Hospital, the two organizations es-

tablished a committee with the Public Service Commission to 

provide direction and resolve issues that arose from the trans-

fer. The committee succeeded in overseeing the transfer of the 

majority of the hospital employees from the Department to the 

Corporation.” 

In paragraph 46, the report notes that, despite these efforts, 

“under the model of care at the new Watson Lake hospital, the 

corporation estimates that the equivalent of three full-time phy-

sicians will be required.” The Auditor General found that re-

cruiting and retaining physicians for Watson Lake has been an 

ongoing challenge. “Further, although the new Watson Lake 

hospital is designed to accommodate a private medical clinic, 

an agreement has not yet been reached between the clinic and 

the corporation.” Paragraph 47 notes, “As with the Watson 

Lake hospital, the corporation estimates the equivalent of three 

full-time physicians will be required for the new Dawson City 

hospital.” At the time the report was written, “The equivalent 

of three full-time physicians has not yet been hired for either 

community.” 

In the corporation’s appearance before Committee of the 

Whole last month, the chair of the corporation noted that prior 

to assuming management of the Watson Lake hospital, there 

were no physician privileging processes, which have now been 

enabled for the management of the corporation under the Hos-

pital Act. However, the chair noted that Watson Lake has and 

continues to have challenges in sharing consistent and appro-

priate physician staffing levels. At the time of the transfer of 

the Watson Lake hospital to the corporation, there was a spe-

cial licensing protocol in place that enabled IMGs — interna-

tional medical graduates — to practise under special circum-

stances. This was revoked, although it has recently been revis-

ited by the Government of Yukon. It was also noted that the 

Watson Lake physician issue was being addressed through 

Health and Social Services, the Hospital Corporation, the Yu-

kon Medical Association and the Yukon Medical Council.  

The chair of the corporation also noted that it was in the 

process of negotiating leases for clinical spaces, but had not 

concluded those negotiations. Could the corporation and de-

partment provide the committee with an update on the physi-

cian staffing situation in Watson Lake? 

Ms. Meade:    The issue is there is a long-time physi-

cian who has been there and was what we would call the “pre-

sent resident present physician” — lead physician. That physi-

cian has been there for years and years and the community is 

very familiar with him and some of his colleagues. The practice 

that was done for internationally trained medical graduates is 

not an issue that we just suddenly cancelled. The issue is the 

practice — the way it was being done — is no longer allowed 

in Canada because of the mobility agreements and how we’re 

doing that. 

One physician there, who is also not always resident pre-

sent, does have the ability, under our agreement with the Alber-

ta College of Physicians and Surgeons, to supervise IMGs, so 

we have a process that we have initiated. 

The issue is not the use of IMGs; the issue is do we have 

three-physician coverage. That’s currently being worked out. It 

is contractual, so I’m a little bit limited, but I will give you the 

best I can. There are two issues — when we talk about the orig-

inal clinic, that clinic that the community would know as the 

“full clinic” is really just the business name for one physician 

and they also have the retail pharmacy. We are now looking at 

how that clinic or a physician can ensure that we have a full 

resident present, meaning that they are there in the community 

except for annual leave, holidays and training. You can then 

use a matter of locums or other full-time, or an IMG. The issue 

being they must all have hospital privileges under the Yukon 

Hospital Corporation medical advisory committee, and that’s 

not unique to the Yukon. That’s how it would be done in any 

jurisdiction. 

We have full coverage because there was annual leave and 

some concern by one of the physicians whether they wanted to 

be there very much or not. We’ve used a locum pool, a rota-

tional pool from physicians here and ones that we have used in 

the past, but most of them are actually from Whitehorse. That 

kind of coverage is also not unique to here. That’s done in most 
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rural areas, and physicians actually like that kind of continuity. 

The issue is ensuring we have one lead physician who is man-

aging the transitions. 

I am quite confident that that discussion will be resolved 

quite soon around the contractual — and it’s with the depart-

ment because of how the billing and the medical agreements sit 

with the department. We just ensure that the requirements of 

the Hospital Corporation are met around privileging and the 

number of physicians, which we agree with — which would be 

the equivalent of three — who manage both the clin-

ic/community side, as well as the acute side. 

Ms. Hanson:    Could I get an update on the status of 

negotiations for the leases of clinical spaces in the hospital, and 

are these at risk because of the just outlined staffing situation 

with physicians?  

Ms. Meade:      They’re quite tied up into the discus-

sions, but the issue is lease or sublease — however that would 

be done. It would be done with whatever medical unit would be 

coming into the facility. The issue is there is a lease generally 

between the department and the corporation for the facility to 

operate, and right now it’s just a matter of how the clinical and 

community side will be done. Again, we don’t want to limit 

ourselves to just having a traditional medical primary care clin-

ic. We want to be able to have the interface with some of the 

other social supports. That’s part of the discussion and the leas-

ing.  

Ms. Hanson:    Was the design/build of a private medi-

cal clinic with a view to a specific physician — like this exist-

ing private clinic already in Watson Lake? Was it necessary to 

build a private clinic within the hospital?  

Ms. Meade:      The corporation may want to speak to 

this but, actually, when you look at best practice lately, espe-

cially for rural remote, having a full community health facility 

is actually part of the best practice of doing the integration. I 

don’t think it’s a matter of a private clinic; it’s trying to get a 

more robust primary care part of the overall facility. That link-

age with the acute side and the use of physicians to cover both 

communities — physicians and nurses, by the way. Both com-

munity and acute is very standard and actually quite efficient 

and effective and, quite frankly, also helps us with attracting 

and retention. There is a group of physicians and nurses who 

like to ensure that they’re not just doing primary care — that 

they have acute and trauma as well. That’s not limited to Wat-

son Lake or Dawson City. We know many of our Whitehorse 

physicians are attracted to that model. 

Mr. Bilsky:     I concur wholeheartedly with my col-

league’s comments and just to put it very simply, co-locating 

those health services within one building just makes a lot of 

sense when we speak to doctors who could be on-call at any 

point in time — on call 24/7 — and patients who have flowed 

through the facility. It just makes a lot of sense if they’re co-

located.  

Ms. Hanson:    Has there been an increase in the total 

number of staff required for each hospital? How many staff 

were at each facility previously? How many positions is the 

corporation expecting to fill going forward? 

Are these permanent positions or contract — as in contract 

nurses? 

Mr. Bilsky:     I’m going to ask Maureen Turner to give 

you the exact numbers, but I’ll lead in with some of the an-

swers there. 

There are a couple of people who needed to be added in 

Watson Lake because, keep in mind, Watson Lake was already 

an operating facility. The people have more to do with the size 

of the building. I’m talking about the hospital staff at the mo-

ment, not anything outside of the hospital. Keep in mind, these 

buildings are about 60-percent hospital and 40-percent other. In 

Watson Lake we had to add approximately two FTEs to that 

one to operate a larger facility. Otherwise, all of the clinical 

and support services were there. 

Dawson is a new facility for us, and I’ll get Maureen to 

speak to the addition. Having said that, it’s intended that all the 

positions we speak about here — they are intended to be per-

manent residents within the communities. Having said that, to 

fill certain holes at certain points in time, we may have some 

temporary people move in and out, but it’s intended to be per-

manent. 

Ms. Turner:      Yes, Watson Lake, as mentioned, is an 

existing hospital. With the new building, there is actually an 

increase in some of the support areas, such as housekeeping 

and a maintenance engineer for the new building, who would 

be on-site. These are folks who are all living in the community, 

so not a lot of increase there. 

The Dawson City hospital, being completely new, will 

have roughly between 20 and 25 employees working in there 

and at least half, if not more, will be local employees. Those 

are primarily the support services that we will be looking at, 

but we have new positions we would be bringing in based on 

their expertise. So particular positions, such as the administra-

tor, the RNs, LPNs, lab X-ray — those types of specialized 

positions would probably be hired from Outside. We are in the 

process of hiring them, and we virtually have all of the posi-

tions filled without being able to offer an actual job because of 

the date — we need to be able to have an opening date. We 

have everything lined up for our staffing, so we’re confident 

we will be fully staffed and, as I mentioned, over half will 

probably be from Dawson. The others will then move to Daw-

son and will be there. We’re not planning on moving people 

back and forth. 

Ms. Hanson:    These positions — are they contract or 

permanent full-time equivalent positions? 

Ms. Turner:      These would be permanent positions. 

Ms. Hanson:    In paragraph 48, the report addresses an 

issue specific to the Dawson City hospital related to the model 

of care for the hospital. According to the report: “The model of 

care in the Health Centre includes nurses with extended or ex-

panded roles (for example, they can diagnose some illnesses). 

The model of care for the new hospital does not include 

this type of nurse; rather, it includes general duty nurses only.” 

The concern expressed in the report is, “If the expanded-

role nurses are not willing to work as general duty nurses, 

the Corporation could have difficulty recruiting a sufficient 
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number of nurses for the new hospital, which could delay its 

opening.” 

In his appearance before the Committee of the Whole, the 

chair of the corporation noted that at the time of planning for 

the Dawson City Hospital, research indicated there were no 

Canadian hospitals using a model where nurses with expanded 

scope were primary care givers. The nurse practitioner legisla-

tion was passed in December 2012, allowing the corporation to 

consider including nurse practitioners in a collaborative care 

model in the future. Evolving to a new model is a consideration 

the corporation is looking into, and the chair mentioned that it 

would be discussed at a Board of Trustees’ meeting in May. 

The chair of the corporation also advised Committee of the 

Whole that staff hiring for Dawson is in a variety of stages of 

recruitment and placement, which I think Ms. Turner has re-

ferred to, and that he was confident that the corporation would 

have a full complement of staff to open the hospital for opera-

tion. 

Would the corporation and department provide the com-

mittee with an update on the physician and nursing staffing and 

how many doctors have actually been hired and how many 

nurses and how many remain? Can you confirm that again?  

Ms. Turner:      Physician-wise, the hospital doesn’t 

hire the doctors, but we do provide privileging. In terms of 

Watson Lake and Dawson City, there are four dedicated — 

Ms. Hanson:    Sorry to interrupt — that was Dawson 

City? 

Ms. Turner:      Yes, in Dawson City, there are four 

dedicated physicians plus several regular locums that go 

through there. From the corporation’s perspective, our vested 

interest is that we will be able to provide on-call physician ser-

vices 24/7. We are quite confident we have that. In terms of the 

hiring and so on, that would be best spoken to by Health and 

Social Services. The nursing staff — we actually have an ex-

cess in fact, to be honest, that have applied. We have had inter-

views for them, so we are very comfortable with our nursing 

staffing. We will be able to open the doors very comfortably 

with our numbers. 

Ms. Hanson:    With respect to the model of care, with 

the use of locums and doctors not resident in the communities, 

how do you address the issue of continuity of care? 

Ms. Meade:      Actually, well in Dawson, we have two 

resident physicians and we also have rotating locum physi-

cians, usually from the same pool — not always the same — 

who are all on contract.  

The locums are used more in the summer when there’s a 

difference in population there. They’re all on contract and there 

is physician responsibility, as far as transition. That happens 

whenever you have shift change or movement of patients in 

large primary care or, in fact, if you use locums. Part of that is 

overseen by medical supervision by physicians and certainly 

the medical advisory committee in the hospital and medical 

director model, but also through the physician’s responsibility 

and how they practise.  

So the interface around whether you always see the same 

physician — it’s quite normal that you don’t. You see rotating, 

but your report and your records have to be documented and 

the accountability is on the physician whom you are seeing at 

the time — as far as they’re responsible for the follow-up on all 

labs, diagnostics, referrals — so anything beyond when you 

leave the office specific to that visit is the responsibility of the 

attending physician. Part of the issue when we’re dealing with 

the contracts is ensuring that we’ve designated and that’s clear-

ly understood when we use locums.  

So, quite frankly, Dawson has operated that way and de-

pending on whether we have all resident physicians, you still 

have locum use, because they’re on for annual leave and train-

ing. So you always have that.  

Ms. Hanson:    I’d like to go back to the issue of nurse 

practitioners and the scope of research that the corporation and, 

I guess, the department may have done. The consultation with 

respect to the use of nurse practitioners in the Yukon goes back 

to 2004 and certainly there are journals of medicine and nurs-

ing that speak about the practice of using nurse practitioners in 

hospital settings — 1997, 2003 — going on for many years.  

Would the corporation please outline the status of its con-

sideration of nurse practitioners as it was discussed from your 

May meeting? 

Mr. Bilsky:     I believe, as you have already cited, leg-

islation was amended in 2009 and then regulation was enacted 

in 2012, so those are very recent developments as far as we’re 

concerned.  

At the initial planning stages, we did a broad survey across 

Canada to look for nurse practitioners or expanded scope, 

which are not the same thing, but the use of any types of col-

laborative care in the acute care setting, and could not find a 

reasonable model. It was our decision at that point in time to 

look for general duty nurses or look to open with general duty 

nurses and physician-supervised models. Right now we’re in a 

phased approach of working within the hospital setting to allow 

nurse practitioners to work toward their full scope.  

Initial phases are just allowing them to look at outpatient 

services that are provided by the hospital under the deferred 

authority of certain medical practitioners, and it’ll be phased 

over time so that they can work to full scope. That’s the differ-

ence between allowing them to work the full scope and incor-

porating them into any type of hospital setting. To be able to do 

that will take a significant amount of planning and design and 

protocol work, as well as bylaw changes with oversight from 

medical staff to be able to do so, and that’ll take a period of 

time. 

Ms. Hanson:    Thank you, Mr. Bilsky, so you are 

building on research and what’s going on in other locations like 

Royal Alexandra intensive care unit and other places in Cana-

da? 

Mr. Bilsky:     An example would be Canadian Nurses 

Association published interprofessional collaborative teams 

exploring models of care. I believe that was done just in June 

2012, so we’re looking at elements like that, but again, collabo-

rative models of care are fairly broad and diverse in nature, so 

we have to make sure that we do what’s best for the Yukon and 

provide safe and excellent hospital care. 
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Ms. Hanson:    I believe Ms. Stick has a question. 

Ms. Stick:    Thank you, Madam Chair, and I thank the 

witnesses for being here and staff from the Auditor General’s 

office. This goes back — this is an addendum to the Chair’s 

questions with regard to hiring of physicians for Dawson, and 

you indicated that there are two resident physicians plus the 

locums. 

Looking at contracts and the public documents — are all 

the physicians in Dawson paid by contract versus the billing 

contract? I would note that already, to date, we have over $2 

million in contracts for Dawson City.  

Ms. Meade:      The physicians are all on contract, in-

cluding the locums. Locum contracts are different from the 

resident and there are different things that they also bill for that 

we have had them do. That will continue to be assessed, but 

they are all on contract. 

Ms. Stick:    Do you anticipate more contracts coming 

up within this fiscal year? 

Ms. Meade:      The current coverage is within the con-

tract scope that we have. I don’t know how the needs assess-

ment will dictate the number of hours and what we need. I 

think we have to leave that open. I also think, given the nature 

of the business, contracts come up because of coverage if 

something happens. So there may be more contracts.  

Ms. Hanson:    With respect to housing, in paragraph 49 

the Auditor General mentions a housing shortage that exists in 

both Watson Lake and Dawson City. I heard a reference to this 

earlier from the CEO of the corporation.  

While the situation in Dawson City should, according to 

the report, be solved by the time the hospital opens, the situa-

tion in Watson Lake was not as good. According to the report, 

the corporation was faced with a shortage of three housing 

units in Watson Lake. An insufficient number of units to ac-

commodate new staff could limit new program and service 

delivery once the new facilities are open. The corporation ad-

vised the Committee of the Whole that it had 12 houses in 

Dawson City and is looking for three more units in Watson 

Lake. What is the state of the housing situation — not general-

ly, but with respect to the Hospital Corporation — in Watson 

Lake and Dawson City with regard to hospital staff? How 

many more units are needed in each community and will they 

be ready when the hospitals are ready or when staff is hired? 

Mr. Bilsky:     I will begin that answer and ask Maureen 

Turner to elaborate a little further with exact numbers. It is my 

understanding that in Dawson City we have secured adequate 

housing. It is awaiting and utilized for different purposes right 

now, but it is awaiting the opening of the hospital. As far as 

that risk is concerned, I believe it has been mitigated. In Wat-

son Lake, I believe again that we have some local hires there, 

and I believe that we have adequate housing in place in Watson 

Lake.  

It is always an ongoing concern to ensure that we have ad-

equate housing, that’s for sure, but I believe we have adequate 

housing in both locations. I will ask Maureen to confirm.  

Ms. Turner:      I can’t add to that, because we are solid 

in both communities at this point and we don’t anticipate any 

housing difficulties when we open.  

Ms. Stick:    I noted that in Dawson, the department is 

renting two private homes for over $53,000 for physicians. I 

was curious as to whether these houses that are being rented 

from private individuals are for the permanent doctors or if 

they are for locums who are coming back and forth to the 

community.  

Ms. Meade:      They are actually for both. They are 

mainly for the contracted primary resident doctors, but they are 

also used by the locums as we increase in the summer months.  

Ms. Hanson:    Perhaps what we can do, because Ms. 

McLeod will be the next member of the committee to pose 

questions for the witnesses and, mindful of the time — it’s 

11:50 a.m. right now — if we could reconvene at 1:30 p.m., we 

will be able to go smoothly through the remaining four mem-

bers of the committee, if that will serve everybody well.  

We’ll see you at 1:30 p.m. 

 

Recess 

 

Ms. Hanson:    It being 1:30 p.m., I will now call this 

hearing of the Public Accounts Committee back to order, and 

I’ll ask Ms. McLeod to proceed with questions, please. 

Ms. McLeod:     I’m going to ask some questions re-

garding funding. With regard to funding, the Auditor General 

notes in paragraph 51 that financing to build the hospitals did 

not go through the standard process involving the contribution 

agreement with the government and the Legislative Assembly’s 

appropriation process: “Instead, the Minister of Health and 

Social Services authorized the Corporation to borrow the mon-

ey from a large Canadian chartered bank that had been the suc-

cessful bidder on a proposal for the loan.” 

At the time the report was written, the Auditor General re-

ported, “The Corporation could not provide us with any expla-

nation regarding why the loans were secured through banks 

rather than from the Government of Yukon.” 

Would the corporation and the department explain to us 

how this decision was arrived at and who was involved in mak-

ing the decision and, further to that, whether or not a business 

case should exist for such a decision as that? 

Mr. Bilsky:     The decision to finance through a char-

tered bank was beyond the scope of the corporation’s parame-

ters. Once we were given direction to finance, then we went 

through a competitive process to acquire financing to fund the 

construction of the hospitals. 

Ms. McLeod:     So, to hear you, then it was not the 

corporation’s decision? 

Mr. Bilsky:     That’s correct. 

Ms. Meade:      I will ask Ms. Hunter to respond, if 

that’s okay. 

Ms. Hunter:      I’m not aware of how the initial deci-

sion was made on what the choice was on the financing mode. 

However, once it was decided, we worked with the corporation 
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on putting it together with the chartered bank and with Man-

agement Board. 

Ms. McLeod:     Was there a business case made to go 

in that direction? Perhaps the department would have that in-

formation. 

Ms. Meade:      I am again going to ask Ms. Hunter, as 

she was there, but there were Management Board submissions 

once we went forward with this model. 

Ms. Hunter:      The original management agreement — 

we explored of taking over initially the Watson Lake hospital 

project. After that time, there was a Management Board deci-

sion that went forward with the financing. I wasn’t with the 

department at the time so I’m not aware of where the decision 

was made for the actual funding arrangement, but once it was 

in place, we went through the normal Management Board pro-

cess of getting the approvals for the funding.  

Ms. Hanson:    Just as a supplementary then: Was the 

corporation authorized or directed to borrow the money from a 

large Canadian chartered bank? 

Mr. Bilsky:     Initially it would have been a direction to 

go down that path. There would have been authorization once 

we secured the options that we were going to go through from a 

chartered bank. 

Ms. McLeod:     Paragraph 53 of the report notes, “… 

the Corporation entered into loan agreements of approximately 

$67 million to finance the projects during construction”, which 

were later “increased to $72.4 million. The loan agreements 

were based on prime interest rates, which fluctuated be-

tween 2.5% and 3% for the period of the loans.” 

In paragraph 54, it states: “The Corporation also entered 

into interest rate swaps with the bank. The swaps total approx-

imately $55 million” and “provide certainty by fixing the inter-

est rates and protecting the Corporation from potential increas-

es in interest rates. However, there is also a risk that, should 

interest rates be lower than was anticipated when the Corpora-

tion entered into the agreement, it will pay more interest than it 

would have paid without the swaps.”  

The audit found that the swap interest rates to date have 

fluctuated between 4.53 percent and 5.23 percent. The Auditor 

General is concerned that the corporation entered into these 

swaps without documented analysis and the advice of an inde-

pendent financial expert to help it make a fully informed deci-

sion for which all the risks and costs were assessed at the out-

set. So why did the corporation decide to enter into an interest 

rate swap without documented analysis and independent finan-

cial advice? 

Mr. Bilsky:     Just to clarify slightly — there is a com-

parison of some rates there. I don’t want anything to be mis-

leading. The initial rates that were compared — there are con-

struction financing loans, which are demand term loans — very 

short-term rates. The intent with the swaps was to ensure that 

we eliminated any interest rate volatility, not just about secur-

ing the lowest possible rates. It would be about that. At that 

time, that’s what the projections were giving us. It was giving 

us the fact that we should secure the interest rates with these 

particular swaps because that was what was projected at that 

time.  

Of course, after that fact, you’re going to see interest rate 

volatility, which is what we were protected against. That was 

what was documented. The experts who we had involved were 

— we had a financial expert in-house, but we would also have 

CIBC that was working with us from a chartered bank perspec-

tive.  

Ms. McLeod:    So that kind of tells me how the deci-

sion was arrived at. So who was involved in making that deci-

sion to go down this swap route?  

Mr. Bilsky:     From the corporation’s perspective, our 

in-house financial experts, namely led by our CFO, our Board 

of Trustees, led by the chair of the board, as well as an external 

chartered banking company.  

Ms. McLeod:     So, not being an expert in these matters 

myself, why was there such a large spread between the con-

struction loans and the swap interest rates that were accepted? 

Mr. Bilsky:     To my knowledge, it’s because the con-

struction loans are short-term demand loans. Once construction 

is complete, it would be intended to turn them into long-term 

amortized and over a longer period of time — 10 to 15 years — 

and those yield much higher — not much higher, but they yield 

higher interest rates depending on the yield curves. Again, as I 

said, the swaps were intended to eliminate interest rate volatili-

ty. 

Ms. McLeod:     As with the rationale for using external 

financing versus government funds, should this decision not 

have been supported by a business case that would have been 

accepted by the department or government, since they would 

have to finance the loans through the operating contribution 

that funds the corporation? Was the decision to pay down the 

loans by $27 million supported by a business case? If so, do 

you have a copy that you can provide the committee? 

Mr. Bilsky:     No, we don’t have a copy of a business 

case. The decision to make that was outside the scope of the 

corporation. We were directed to pay down the long-term debt 

of the hospital. 

Ms. Hanson:    The question: As with the rationale for 

using external financing versus government funds, should this 

decision not have been supported by a business case that would 

have been accepted by the department or government, since 

government will have to finance the loans through the operat-

ing contribution that funds the corporation?  

Mr. Bilsky:     The decision to either finance and con-

tinue that financing or pay it down with surplus cash, I believe 

sits with Management Board and is outside the scope of the 

Yukon Hospital Corporation. 

Ms. Hanson:    Thank you, Mr. Bilsky. Just to be clear 

then, the decision for using external financing versus govern-

ment funds rested not with the corporation, but outside of the 

corporation? 

Mr. Bilsky:     That’s correct. 

Mr. Silver:    With the subsequent government com-

mitment to pay off $27 million of these loans, who made that 

decision? Could a witness describe that process? 
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Mr. Tuton:    We were just in a sidebar conversation. 

Could you repeat the question, please? 

Mr. Silver:    Absolutely. With the subsequent govern-

ment commitment to pay off $27 million of the loans, who 

made that decision? Could the members describe that process?  

Mr. Tuton:    As Mr. Bilsky had earlier stated, that was 

outside of the mandate of the corporation. I believe that deci-

sion was made at Management Board.  

Ms. Hunter:      The decision to pay off the $27 million 

was a business case that was put before Management Board. 

We looked at different scenarios of paying it down and that 

was, in fact, due to the stronger financial position of the Yukon 

government. It’s not unusual when you finance projects to look 

at them throughout the period of the loan or agreement, to look 

at different ways of paying down or financing in different 

methods. Because there was the health of the overall YG fi-

nances, we were in a position to put this money toward it at this 

time. We’ll continue to review it over the life of the payments 

to see where fiscally it makes more sense to make lump-sum 

payments or continue in the traditional financing mode now.  

The $27 million is going to allow us to reduce our overall 

interest costs over the life of the loan by about $12 million, and 

it equates to about just over one million dollars a year at the 

current amortization, knowing that it’s a declining balance on 

the loan — on the interest on the servicing of the loan, but real-

ly it depends on the interest climate at the time that we look at 

it, so we will be reviewing it on an ongoing basis. 

Ms. McLeod:     We’re going to move on to the operat-

ing costs per hospital. In paragraph 55, the Auditor General 

states: “… the corporation did not identify the incremental op-

erating costs for the two new hospitals until December 2010, 

after the new hospitals had been designed and construction was 

under way. According to the Corporation’s most recent esti-

mates, the cost of operating the new facilities will increase sig-

nificantly over that of the older facilities.” Costs should have 

been available to decision-makers before the approval for the 

projects was given. 

The annual operating costs — unaudited, of course — of 

$3.4 million for the Watson Lake hospital in 2009-10 are esti-

mated to increase to about $9.2 million by 2013-14 for the new 

hospital. 

 Annual operating costs — unaudited — of $2.7 million for 

the Dawson Health Centre in 2011-12 are estimated to increase 

to about $9.3 million by 2013-14 for the Dawson City hospital. 

Of course, as with forecasts, the risk is that the cost may be 

higher.  

Could the Auditor General tell us why it would have been 

important to identify the incremental operating costs before 

construction started?  

Mr. Hellsten:    We feel it’s important to identify in-

cremental operating costs before construction. Those approving 

the projects would want to know not only what the capital costs 

of the projects are, but also want to know how much it would 

cost to operate. If they’re not comfortable with the ongoing 

operating costs of the projects, changes could then be made to 

the projects’ scope and operations to better contain these costs.  

Ms. McLeod:     So, why was the corporation unable to 

identify incremental costs earlier — before approval to proceed 

with the project was given? Or was that, in fact, a discussion 

point? 

Mr. Bilsky:     As was stated this morning, we were 

given direction to build two facilities — one to replace an ex-

isting hospital, one to basically build a new hospital and re-

place a health centre. 

Once that decision was made, it was our mandate to try to 

do that in the most cost-effective manner from a construction 

perspective. Concurrently with that, early in the process we did 

determine what the operating and maintenance budgets would 

be for these two projects. Keep in mind that a lot of what is 

being stated here is the difference in numbers. It has to do with 

loan servicing, and it also has to do with the increased size of 

the building overall. We are talking about a much larger facili-

ty. Those two things together make up probably 90 percent of 

the differences in the two budgets.  

Ms. McLeod:     Is the corporation or department con-

cerned that having to devote more money to capital and opera-

tion and maintenance costs for the new hospitals would ad-

versely affect the ability to offer other health programs and 

services? 

Ms. Meade:      I don’t think that this is an issue in iso-

lation of all of our competing costs in health care, quite frankly. 

Our mandate has to be to continue to look for efficiencies. I 

think there are efficiencies in moving to this new facility in 

many ways, because we already have demands with the aging 

population and changes. So it’s that fine balance.  

The increased cost here has to be married with actually in-

creasing access, quality and sustainability, given the way that 

we can pool resources and manage. The bigger question is how 

we go forward here and continue to look at ways of managing 

efficiency and increasing access; again, how can we start to 

introduce greater technology, how can we use the large pool — 

both the department’s and the corporation’s resources in that 

community to provide increased access and increased services. 

It doesn’t matter what part of the wall that is provided on, but 

can we actually start to get into integrated delivery. I think I 

should go on record now, as the Deputy Minister of Health and 

Social Services, and say that you don’t save money in health 

care, but you certainly do try to manage the cost curve. I think 

this actually gives us some advantages, but it means we have to 

manage it and continue to evaluate as I referenced before — 

not just doing a needs assessment now but continue the valua-

tion around our services. That is usually done on a two- or 

three-year cycle. 

Mr. Bilsky:      No additional comment, thank you. 

Ms. McLeod:     Subsequent to the audit, the govern-

ment committed in the budget to paying off $27 million of the 

corporation debt incurred in constructing the recent capital pro-

jects. You have said that about $12 million will be saved over 

the lifetime of the loan in interest costs. 

By how much is this pay-down expected to reduce the an-

nual operating costs of each hospital and thereby the overall 

costs of the corporation? 
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Mr. Bilsky:    Thanks for the question. The annual op-

erating costs will be reducing on a consolidated basis by just 

over $1 million, which is about $500,000 to $600,000 per pro-

ject. 

Ms. Hunter:       I was going to give you the same answer. 

Ms. Hanson:    Well, good. Thank you. 

Ms. McLeod:     Planning for the new staff residence, in 

paragraph 61, the report notes that the Auditor General found:  

“… the Corporation had been planning to replace the Moun-

tainside Apartments since at least 2007, and had identified this 

need in its capital and business plans. It determined that re-

placement of the building was the best option because ongoing 

maintenance costs and extensive renovation work and capital 

costs would be required to bring the older facility up to current 

standards. We also found that the Corporation’s business plan 

explained how a new residence would help the Corporation 

achieve its mandate to recruit and retain staff by providing the 

housing accommodations.”  

In paragraph 64 of the report, the Auditor General says, 

“Corporation officials provided a logical explanation of their 

decisions to replace the Mountainside Apartments, and their 

decisions seemed reasonable in light of the realities they faced. 

However, they were unable to provide us with sufficient docu-

mentation of their analysis and the decisions they made. For a 

project the size and cost of the Crocus Ridge Residence, we 

expected documentation to support the Corporation’s deci-

sions.” 

In paragraph 66 of the report, it is noted that, “The Hospi-

tal Corporation was unable to demonstrate that it had evaluated 

options for meeting the housing needs of its staff other than 

building the Crocus Ridge Residence.” 

Can the corporation explain why this kind of documenta-

tion was not compiled or kept? 

Mr. Bilsky:     The documentation that I’m aware of is a 

study done by M. J. Fraser Consulting which had gone through 

quite a detailed assessment of the previous building, the utiliza-

tion rates of that building, the estimated construction costs and 

what would be required in the future, which led us to the con-

clusion that replacing that building and constructing 34 residen-

tial units and some health services offices would be the best 

option for us.  

I think to help, hopefully, in retrospect, to prove that point, 

the occupancy of that building has been fairly much — I think 

100-percent occupancy since the day it opened. It supports our 

recruitment and our retention of people, which we are proud to 

say is very low in HR worlds, and we keep vacancy rates at a 

level less than, I think, two percent overall. It’s a very effective 

way to make sure that we have a fully staffed hospital. 

Ms. McLeod:     In paragraph 67, the Auditor General 

recommends, “The Yukon Hospital Corporation should docu-

ment the analysis on its decisions for capital projects.” 

The corporation agreed with this recommendation and said 

in the future it “will ensure that it documents and retains infor-

mation and analysis that support decisions to proceed with cap-

ital projects.” 

Could the Auditor General tell us why it’s important to 

document analyses and decisions that are made for a project, 

such as the Crocus Ridge Residence?  

Ms. Sullivan:      The reason it’s important is because 

capital projects, such as Crocus Ridge, are built using taxpay-

ers’ money. In this case, it was over $18 million. 

The government and other public officials spending that 

money are subject to scrutiny. As such, they should create an 

audit trail that includes any analysis and decisions behind the 

spending. In other words, the public has a right to expect that 

those in charge of spending public funds will be accountable 

for that spending and that their decisions will be transparent.  

Ms. McLeod:     So, moving on to an action plan — the 

corporation notes that it’s in the initial stages of implementing 

a project management gating process. This will apply to vary-

ing degrees, depending on the scope of the projects. Certain 

projects with broad health care impacts will be done in collabo-

ration with the department. The process includes guidelines for 

documentation and retention of information and analysis that 

support decisions to proceed with capital projects.  

First of all, can you explain to me what “project manage-

ment gating process” is?  

Mr. Bilsky:     Gating process — it’s a discipline or phi-

losophy. What it’s intended to do is create multiple stages of 

analysis before you commit to the final project — multiple 

points of decision. Certainly, the documentation that goes along 

with it institutes identifying critical assessment factors and the 

risk management that goes along with it.  

That’s just to ensure that, as we move through different 

stages of the projects, there are points in time when you can 

decide to move ahead or not move ahead based on the analysis 

and the needs assessment being done. 

Ms. McLeod:     Is the project management gating pro-

cess a new policy or an addition to an existing corporate poli-

cy? And, I guess further than that, has it been approved by the 

Board of Trustees and is it in effect now? 

Mr. Bilsky:     The consolidated process is a new pro-

cess for the Yukon Hospital Corporation. Elements of it existed 

in the past, but we’re putting it together into one cohesive pro-

gram, so that it addresses the OAG concerns. The process itself 

would not be subject to Board of Trustees’ approval; however, 

there is a delegation of authorities and matrix that certain deci-

sion points would require the insertion of the Board of Trustees 

for governance perspective. 

Ms. Hanson:    Thank you, Mr. Bilsky. We’ll now turn 

to Ms. Stick. 

Ms. Stick:    I’m going to be looking at paragraphs 69 to 

81 of the Auditor General’s report concerning the building of 

the three capital projects. 

In paragraph 69, the Auditor General notes the challenge 

the corporation faced in completing four large capital projects, 

basically at the same time, with a relatively small senior man-

agement team. “Further,” according to the Auditor General, 

“… when the Corporation began these capital projects, it had 

no formal project management or contracting policies or pro-

cesses in place, and it had no project manager on staff.” The 
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corporation proceeded with the construction projects without 

adequate personnel, policies or processes. My first question 

would be: Why did the corporation not close these gaps prior to 

beginning the construction of its facilities? 

Mr. Bilsky:     I tried to listen to what you were saying, 

and I think you were speaking about project management sup-

port and purchasing — basically purchasing, procurement, re-

sources and policies. We did close the gaps at the inception 

stage of the project. We added a project management team, 

which included project management expertise, as well as sup-

port. We did follow — although had not implemented the poli-

cy — the purchasing and procurement policy that we do have 

today, meaning we followed it in concept and did not actually 

institute or formalize it until later in the construction process. 

Having said all that, we managed risk with the use of many 

external consultants — engineering, design and legal — to 

make sure that we had shored up any potential risk or harm.  

Ms. Stick:    Given the costs and the complexity of the 

projects, was there any thought given to doing these projects 

sequentially, rather than trying to complete all three at the same 

time? 

Mr. Bilsky:     To my knowledge, Crocus Ridge was 

completed very early in the process. Concurrently with that was 

the Thomson Centre and, yes, at the same time, we were in the 

beginning stages of two new hospitals. Once given the mandate 

to proceed with these, we did our best to resource them and 

manage risks from a construction perspective, so no thought 

was given to trying to sequentialize these projects. 

Ms. Stick:     You spoke earlier of following the policy 

for the awarding of contracts. Could the corporation explain 

how it was able, under the old policy that you were trying to 

follow, to award contracts and have the confidence that you 

were doing it fairly and efficiently? 

Mr. Bilsky:     Just a quick clarification on the question: 

Are you saying before we institute a policy? 

Ms. Stick:     Yes. 

Mr. Bilsky:     Okay, thank you. Prior to instituting the 

formal policy which, as I said, works on the premise that we 

want to be open, transparent and competitive in the way that we 

tender and award contracts, we had sourced several other pur-

chasing policy contracts and put together in draft an amalgama-

tion of these contracts. One of those would happen to be from 

the Yukon government, but not solely from the Yukon gov-

ernment. We weren’t exactly following those policies. So in 

draft, we were following the criteria that now had formalized 

into a policy at that time. As I think was stated by the OAG in 

the report, from their perspective, our process for purchasing, 

procurement and tendering was — I’m not going to say 

“sound”, but was okay. 

Ms. Stick:    That actually leads into the next part of my 

discussions. In paragraph 75, the Auditor General notes: “The 

Corporation’s Board of Trustees authorized sole-sourcing for 

two contracts because they did not feel they could complete the 

projects on time if they followed a competitive process. While 

these decisions may have been reasonable at the time the con-

tracts were awarded, better planning, including longer project 

timelines, may have helped to avoid this situation and allowed 

for a competitive process to occur. For the third sole-sourced 

contract, Corporation officials told us that they used this meth-

od to award the contract because they thought they knew the 

best contractor for the job. However, the Board of Trustees had 

not authorized sole-sourcing of this contract and therefore the 

contract should have been competitively awarded.” 

So the question: For the two contracts that the corporation 

sole-sourced because it felt it could not complete the projects 

on time if they had been competitively awarded, would the 

corporation provide the committee with the details on these 

contracts, the amount, the contactor, the statement of work, et 

cetera?  

As these projects are now late, is it still the corporation’s 

view that it was best to sole-source these two contracts?  

Mr. Bilsky:     To answer your last question first, in my 

opinion, it was still the correct decision to sole-source these 

contracts.  

There are three in total, and one applies to the Crocus 

Ridge; one would apply to overall project management or hav-

ing a project management consultant on board; and the other 

applies to X-ray machine equipment. To better understand the 

rationale for sole-sourcing these, it has to do with time limits. It 

has to do with standardization of equipment. It has to do with 

continuity of the projects, meaning people that were familiar 

with the projects. It made more sense to continue on with those 

projects. I’d have to step back from it and find out which exact 

contractor was not recommended by the board for sole-

sourcing because I don’t know the answer to that one off the 

top of my head. 

Ms. Stick:    I’ll come back to that, but I was wondering 

if the details of those contracts — of the two contracts that the 

corporation sole-sourced — are available? 

Mr. Bilsky:     I’ll try and give you some details at the 

moment and, if necessary, we can always follow up in writing, 

if more details are requested. The two that were approved and 

sole-sourced — one was the Crocus Ridge tenant fit-up. I be-

lieve the contractor was TSL Construction, which had continui-

ty of the contract overall. I believe the amount was $2.3 mil-

lion, so that’s the bulk of the $3.2 million you cited earlier. 

Again, it was the continuity of the project and timeliness of 

the project. We were at the very final stages, and these were 

some design and fit-up changes that were requested by the ten-

ant.  

The second one that was approved was the Carestream X-

ray machine — again, authorized by the board. The amount 

was $186,000. That was because of standardization of equip-

ment and time limits and continuity. I believe the one that you 

would say was not approved by the board was for a project 

manager at that time. That project manager was sourced from 

the government — a senior project manager with over 22 years 

of experience. I’m sorry; I don’t have the exact amount of the 

contract for that one. I can follow up. The choice for that one 

was to close the gap very quickly; bring on project manage-

ment experience, and do it from the perspective that this person 

was highly qualified and brought with him the ability to insti-
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tute some policy and procedure regarding purchasing and pro-

curement. 

Ms. Stick:    So for that third contract, and I assume it’s 

the project manager one, would that individual — you said they 

were sourced from government. So was that person a govern-

ment employee? 

Mr. Bilsky:     I believe he had recently retired from the 

government so he wasn’t a government employee who had 

moved over; he had 22 years of experience with government 

purchasing, procurement and construction. 

Ms. Stick:    In paragraphs 76 and 77, the report states 

that two contracts were awarded using an invitational method, 

but the corporation did not follow all of the contracting regula-

tions in awarding those. “Specifically, using an invitational 

method for contracts over $50,000 requires that an organization 

invite all contractors from an established source list to submit a 

bid or proposal; however, the Corporation does not have such a 

list. The Corporation should therefore have either followed the 

process to establish a source list or publicly advertised the con-

tracts.” 

Further, “… one of the contract proposals did not include 

all the information required by the request for proposal. The 

Corporation should have rejected the proposal because of this. 

Instead, we found that the Corporation evaluated the proposal 

and subsequently awarded the contract to this vendor. For the 

other contract, the Corporation was unable to show us that us-

ing the invitational method had been approved by the Corpora-

tion’s Board of Trustees (the appropriate authority).” 

Would the corporation please provide further details on 

these two contracts?  

Mr. Bilsky:     The details of these two contracts that 

were awarded by invitation method: the first one was Caroline 

Webster, an equipment consultant. It had to do with medical 

and hospital equipment that was extremely specialized equip-

ment. We consulted with several architects and hospital plan-

ners and did a broad search on the Internet and other places to 

try to find a qualified list. The search resulted in only three 

identified consultants who could do this type of work. Subse-

quent to that, an invitational RFP went to three consultants. 

One did not respond. One responded with an extremely high 

price. The final one that was chosen came in with what we con-

sidered to be the best price or reasonable price. Those are the 

details I can provide on the first contract.  

The second one is Quantum Murray for asbestos removal, 

which had to do with the demolition to be able to prepare for 

Crocus Ridge. Time was a factor on this one. Again, it’s a very 

specialized area. We received two quotes and we approached 

the board for approval on those, which was provided. No other 

bids came forward on that particular aspect of work and had to 

be done, I believe, prior to beginning construction. So it was a 

timeliness issue.  

Ms. Stick:    What does the corporation’s current con-

tracting policy dictate in circumstances such as this if it were to 

arise again? Are invitational bids provided for and does the 

corporation have source lists? 

Mr. Bilsky:     Very specifically, the procurement 

method has gradients of levels of dollars spending, both in 

O&M and in capital. To your point, anything between $10,000 

and basically $100,000 would require three written quotes with 

justification and we are in the process of continuing to build 

our source list of what we would consider to be qualified, ap-

proved, consistent vendors whom we work with. 

Ms. Stick:    Could the corporation explain why it ac-

cepted the bid that did not provide all of the information re-

quired through the request for proposals? 

Mr. Bilsky:     I’m sorry, I don’t have specific infor-

mation on that particular — why we didn’t send it back. I’m 

not certain that my colleagues behind me can answer that ques-

tion either, but I’m going to ask Kelly Steele to see if she has 

any more information than I have. Otherwise, we’ll have to get 

back to you on that particular question. 

Ms. Steele:      There were two bids that had come in for 

the equipment consultant. The price of the second bid was ex-

orbitant. It was extremely, extremely high. So the bid that actu-

ally had the missing material — the price that came in was so 

much lower than the second bid. That was the reason for going 

with Caroline Webster.  

Ms. Hanson:    How would the corporation have been 

able to assess that, Ms. Steele, if it didn’t have all the infor-

mation that was required? If I come in and say that I can give 

you a lower bid, but I’m not necessarily telling you what I’m 

going to be giving you, how would you be able to assess if all 

the information required by the request for proposal was not 

provided to the corporation? On what basis would you assess 

that that was a valid proposal?  

Ms. Steele:      The details of what was missing in the 

bid, I don’t believe was significant to the dollar amount and 

what this would have cost — what they were bidding for — the 

actual cost of the equipment and planning. But we can get that 

information for you.  

Ms. Hanson:    Thank you, Ms. Steele. I would appreci-

ate it if we could get that follow-up documentation. 

Ms. Stick:    Yes, my last question. Could the corpora-

tion please explain why the invitational method had not been 

approved by the Board of Trustees for one of those contracts? 

Mr. Bilsky:     I don’t think the Board of Trustees re-

quested the invitational method be brought forward. I think an 

extensive search was done by the administration of the hospital 

to try and source as many contracts as we could for these par-

ticular projects and we brought those forward. Having done 

that method, all of these were brought forward and assessed 

prior to the board saying, “This must be an invitational bid.” 

Keep in mind that at that point, we didn’t have a policy to fol-

low nor an invitational list to go to,  so we were creating that 

invitational list at that point and trying to create the best value 

we could. 

Ms. Hanson:    Just as a follow-up before we move on, I 

just want to confirm — the findings were agreed to by both the 

corporation and the Auditor General. So in the finding it said: 

“…the Corporation was unable to show…” the Auditor General 
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“…that using the invitational method had been approved by the 

Corporation’s Board of Trustees (the appropriate authority).” 

So the question is this: Why had it not been approved by 

the Board of Trustees? Why would the corporation move ahead 

with a process that had not been approved by the Board of 

Trustees? 

Mr. Bilsky:     I don’t have an answer as to why. At that 

point, it didn’t exist, so it couldn’t be approved by the Board of 

Trustees. It won’t change the fact that, as management or ad-

ministration of the hospital, we’re going to mitigate as much 

risk or follow as much best practice as we possibly can, wheth-

er the Board of Trustees has actually approved a policy or not. 

This meant that we would go out and source as much from 

a competitive perspective, or best-value perspective, as we pos-

sibly could. So we were following best practice whether it was 

an approved policy from the board or not, and we acknowledge 

that it did not exist at that time. 

Ms. Hanson:    Thank you, Mr. Bilsky. We will now 

move to Mr. Silver. 

Mr. Silver:    My first question is for the Auditor Gen-

eral. 

In paragraph 79 of the Auditor General’s recommenda-

tions: “Corporation staff involved in awarding contracts should 

document the Corporation’s contracting processes.” 

Why does the Auditor General think that it’s important to 

document contracting processes? 

Ms. Sullivan:      We think it’s important because gov-

ernment and public organizations need to be able to demon-

strate that they are carrying out contracting activities in a fair, 

fiscally responsible, open and competitive manner. Also, doc-

umenting the processes allows staff within the organizations to 

know what the rules are and to follow them consistently. 

Mr. Silver:    The corporation agreed with the recom-

mendation and indicated that it had, “established a new con-

tracting policy and continues to work on improving process 

documentation for awarding of contracts and capital project 

administration.”  
In its action plan provided to the committee, the corpora-

tion stated that its contracting and purchasing policy was im-

plemented by the corporation in January 2012. This policy is to 

ensure that the corporation has clearly defined methods of so-

liciting competitive bids from vendors/contractors. “Key ele-

ments of the policy include: practices and procedures that sup-

port sound and consistent business decisions and encourage 

fair, fiscally responsible, non-discriminatory and transparent 

business transactions; competitive vs non-competitive pro-

curement criteria; procurement method definitions and options;  

governance surrounding sole-source justification.” The corpo-

ration “will track adherence and evaluate and revise the policy 

as required.” 

The new policy “is being used on the current major capital 

projects as the corporation moves into finalization.” 

My question: Could the corporation explain the new com-

ponents of its contracting policy? In what ways is it similar or 

different from those of the Government of Yukon? 

Mr. Bilsky:     I’ll begin answering that question. I’ll 

ask Kelly to elaborate a bit more on the difference between the 

two policies. From an overarching perspective, the Yukon 

Hospital Corporation required a policy that would establish 

authority for us to do business and purchase goods and ser-

vices. So it’s not only about fair price and transparency — it’s 

to support good business decisions that are fiscally responsible, 

non-discriminatory and transparent in nature. It also includes 

elements of occupational health and safety — so vendors or 

contractors working with us must ensure that they comply with 

our policies and procedures. We always want to make sure 

we’re balancing costs versus benefit and supporting local busi-

ness where it’s possible and feasible and also considering envi-

ronmental impacts, from that perspective.  

So as I said before, this includes stratification of the levels 

of authority and what processes and procedures are being fol-

lowed at different levels of spending and also outline some use 

of purchasing organizations and how we would use those pur-

chasing organizations to ensure that we have best value. It also 

gets into elements of very community-specific contracting 

where it’s necessary — as we already mentioned, different 

types of agreements that we might enter into, such as standing 

offer agreements or sole-sourcing and elements like that. So 

that’s a brief tour of the contracting policy itself. We can cer-

tainly furnish you with more details if that’s required. 

To answer the question about the difference between our 

policy and the Hospital Corporation, which is independent of 

the Yukon government, I will ask Kelly Steele to possibly 

comment on that. 

Ms. Steele:      When we were developing this policy, 

we incorporated a number of different policies to make sure 

that we had best practices. We not only looked at the Financial 

Administration Manual and the procurement policies in there, 

we also looked at a number of different policies from other 

health care organizations and then developed a policy based on 

that. I think there are a lot of similarities, but as Mr. Bilsky 

mentioned, as we are separate from the government, our policy 

is unique to the hospital but does cover the same sole-sourcing 

criteria, standing offer criteria and criteria for operation and 

maintenance and capital procurement.  

Mr. Silver:    Would the corporation explain the com-

petitive versus the non-competitive criteria?  

Mr. Bilsky:     Essentially, just from a value stratifica-

tion perspective, to be very specific, anything under $5,000 

does not require any kind of quote or competitive bid. Having 

said that, there are a number of criteria in which you would get 

into sole-sourcing. That includes everything from standardiza-

tion of equipment; a certain type of product and service that is 

controlled where there is a limited market for it; controlled by 

certain vendors only or where there are warranty situations on 

certain pieces of equipment where that is required; prototypes 

— there is a plethora of things that would determine whether 

sole-sourcing is required or could be allowed. 

Mr. Silver:    Would the corporation also explain the 

governance around sole-source justification? What are the dol-

lar limits for sole-sourcing? Is this lower than the threshold for 
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Government of Yukon which has many more contracts to ad-

minister? 

Mr. Bilsky:     As I said, any purchase over $5,000 is 

going to require some type of competitive bid, whether it’s 

invitational or whether it’s fully RFP. To go down the complete 

list of when sole-sourcing could be considered: it is to ensure 

existing compatibility with products; when there are exclusive 

rights or licences that need to be adhered to; when there’s an 

absence of competitive competition for technical reasons — it 

can only be supplied by a particular supplier; situations where 

procurement of service and supply is controlled by one supplier 

that is a statutory monopoly; situations where it’s performed on 

or about lease property by the person leasing it — it can only 

be done by them for various reasons; for work performed on 

property by a contractor according to provisions of warranty 

and guarantee; contract awarded by a design competition; pro-

curement on a prototype or for goods and service to be devel-

oped in the course of a particular contract; purchases of goods 

under exceptionally advantageous circumstances, such as when 

you’re acquiring it through a bankruptcy; and lastly, the timeli-

ness aspect, where you’re trying to meet a deadline or project 

and it’s truly in jeopardy. Those are the main criteria for sole-

sourcing to be considered.  

Mr. Silver:    I believe you already answered my next 

question, but it’s worth asking for an official statement. Would 

the corporation please provide a copy of its contracting and 

purchasing policy?  

Mr. Bilsky:     Absolutely, we can provide a copy.  

Mr. Silver:    As the policy is well over a year old and 

the corporation is tracking adherence to the policy, would it 

please advise the committee as to how it is doing in terms of 

complying with the new policy? Has it evaluated the policy yet 

and/or contemplated any changes to that policy?  

Mr. Bilsky:     As far as how we are doing with the pol-

icy adherence and the effectiveness of the policy, I have to ad-

mit that we are doing it on an ad hoc basis, department by de-

partment, as far as compliance and adherence to the policy. I’ll 

have to ask Ms. Steele to elaborate on that. 

Ms. Steele:      The policy has been rolled out to all of 

the departments in the hospital, and we are currently using it 

for all purchases. We also have been using the policy in regard 

to the equipment purchasing for the hospitals. So this policy 

came into effect, and we’ve been actively using it as we’re pur-

chasing equipment for Watson Lake and Dawson. 

Mr. Silver:    So I’m to understand that there isn’t a re-

port right now. If there are any types of reports that have hap-

pened since, is there any possible way of the committee getting 

a copy of that? 

Ms. Steele:      There isn’t a report per se of compliance 

that I’m able to provide. 

Mr. Silver:    In paragraph 81, the report indicates that 

“24 of the 29 change orders examined were appropriately justi-

fied and managed. For the five non-compliant change orders, 3 

could reasonably have been foreseen and therefore avoided 

with better planning, and 3 were not approved by the Board of 

Trustees. 1 change order was non-compliant for both reasons.” 

That’s the messed-up math there. As the report notes, most 

change orders were appropriately justified and managed. 

Would the corporation please provide details on the three 

change orders — contract dollar amounts and also reasons for 

the change — that the report states could have reasonably been 

foreseen? 

Mr. Bilsky:     For the details of that question, I’ll ask 

Ms. Steele to answer. 

Ms. Steele:      I don’t have the dollar amounts here. Ba-

sically, there were three change orders. One was related to the 

tenant fit-up — this was the Crocus Ridge Residence. The orig-

inal residence design and build was tendered and awarded ap-

propriately, and that was awarded to TSL. The tenant fit-up 

was then, as well, given to TSL. There was a long delay getting 

the design work for the tenant fit-up, so we ended up having to 

do a change order and asked KMBR Architects to help them. 

This was why TSL was given the tenant fit-up. Due to time-

lines, TSL was given the tenant fit-up contract, without tender, 

and Crocus Ridge — one of the change orders didn’t have Mr. 

Tuton’s signature on it. That was the first change order. 

The second one had to do with the Dawson City hospital 

design. The commissioning for Dawson City — we sole-

sourced this to Stantec because they were trusted, and they 

were already on the job. 

We didn’t tender this one as we should have. Again, Mr. 

Tuton’s signature was missing on the original documentation.  

The third change order had to do with the Watson Lake 

hospital design, and Mr. Tuton’s signature was missing on the 

original change order documentation. 

Mr. Silver:    This is my last question for now. Would 

the corporation provide details on the three change orders that 

were not approved by the Board of Trustees and explain why 

this approval was not obtained? 

Mr. Bilsky:     Again, that is Ms. Steele. I believe it is 

the same change orders, about which she just spoke. 

Ms. Hanson:    Ms. Steele, do you just want to confirm 

that? 

Ms. Steele:    Sorry, Madam Chair. Yes, they are the 

same change orders. 

Ms. Hanson:    Now we will move to Mr. Dixon. 

Hon. Mr. Dixon:    Paragraphs 82 and 83 of the report 

state that the projects were regularly monitored by the corpora-

tion, but despite this monitoring, the projects were not com-

pleted on time or within budget. Paragraphs 84 and 86 illustrate 

how all three capital projects are behind schedule and over-

budget. 

The Crocus Ridge Residence was supposed to open in De-

cember 2010. It opened four months later, in April 2011, at a 

total cost of $18.3 million, which was $1.3 million overbudget, 

or 7.6 percent. 

The Watson Lake hospital was originally scheduled for 

completion in the spring of 2012 at an estimated cost of $22.2 

million. 

It was still incomplete at the time the report was issued and 

was scheduled to be substantially completed in February 2013 

at an estimated cost of $24.6 million, which was $2.4 million, 
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or 11 percent overbudget. The chair of the corporation advised 

the Committee of the Whole that the estimated cost is now 

$27.9 million and that it is nearing completion. The Dawson 

City hospital was originally scheduled for completion in the 

fall of 2012 at an estimated cost of $26.5 million. It was also 

not completed at the time the report was issued and was sched-

uled to be substantially completed in March 2013 at an estimat-

ed cost of $29.7 million, which is $3.2 million, or 12.1 percent 

overbudget. The chair of the corporation advised the Commit-

tee of the Whole that the estimated cost is now $31.8 million 

and the facility will be opening this fall.  

As discussed by the corporation at its appearance at Com-

mittee of the Whole last month, the general contractor on the 

hospital projects, Dowland Contracting, was in default because 

it was not paying its subtrade companies, I suppose. Why were 

these projects late and overbudget? Are there factors that were 

unique to each project, or did they share characteristics that 

caused them to be late and overbudget? As well, could we have 

an update, if there is one available, to the current status be-

tween Dowland and the subcontractors? 

Mr. Bilsky:     As far as the update on the two projects 

and the general contractor, which was Dowland Contracting 

Ltd., and the subtrades, we’ve been working diligently with 

Intact, which is the bonding company. They have essentially 

assumed the contract from Dowland, so they have put in place 

a construction manager, TSL, to continue the project moving 

on. We are not privy to all the subcontractors and their con-

tracts and how much they have been paid or not paid.  

Once we put Dowland into default, it was Intact insurance 

company’s role to remedy the entire situation. From that point 

forward, they’ve been working diligently with subtrades trying 

to negotiate any element of their initial contract with Dowland. 

Dowland has basically been removed. Since that time, Dow-

land Contracting went into default on several other projects 

across Canada unrelated to ours, In May, they went into credi-

tor protection, so basically in receivership, and a receiver has 

been appointed. That means they are trying to secure and per-

fect the creditors’ situation in all situations. To try and ensure 

that we are doing everything we can, we continue to work with 

the receiver. We continue to work with Intact, and we actually 

make sure that we have taken every step from the legal coun-

cil’s perspective to protect the subtrades as best they can. They 

have made claims against labour materials and we’re ensuring 

that we’re cooperating and making any claims that we possibly 

can to keep the projects moving ahead. 

The projects themselves are moving ahead. We just visited 

last week to both the projects and they’re very close to substan-

tial completion in each one. Watson Lake is in the stages of 

commissioning and cleaning. In Dawson, we have a few war-

ranty issues. We need to take care of the building and then 

we’ll be into stages of finishing and commissioning and clean-

ing.  

So that’s the status of where we’re at with the construction 

and the previous general contractor. I’m proud to say that 

through a lot of hard work things are moving along.  

As far as the budget question that we were asked, there are 

a couple of common elements to each project. It was known at 

the time that the equipment was excluded from the original 

construction budget and not part of the construction budget. In 

each case, those add up to about $2 million per project so there 

is a significant piece.  

The other part that was not part of the original construction 

budget was financing costs. At that time, the total amount of 

the financing costs was in excess of, or very close to, approxi-

mately $1 million for the construction period for financing.  

Other things are very specific to each site. In Watson Lake 

we had made the decision to use an existing shell construction 

building that was partially constructed, and for the sake of pru-

dence and safety, it was determined that the under slab services 

needed to be replaced, so that was one particular major change 

that was made.  

In Dawson City I can tell you that probably most of the 

change orders that were effected there had to do with a couple 

things. One was definitely complying with heritage bylaws and 

making sure that design specs and installation and everything 

else — so building a certain type of footprint and having a cer-

tain type of cladding and appearance and whatnot — complied 

with heritage bylaws, which was unanticipated at the beginning 

of the project. 

What I will also state is that part of the agreement that we 

have with Intact is that they step into the shoes of Dowland 

from a general contracting perspective and, without getting into 

all the details of the contract, they are committed to providing 

us the building on a lien-free completed basis under the original 

terms of the contract, meaning the original price subject to any 

change orders that we may institute. That doesn’t mean to say 

that there won’t be delay claims and other undetermined and 

unanticipated impacts to the project, but at this point in time 

that’s the agreement that we have with Intact. 

Hon. Mr. Dixon:    What are the current expected com-

pletion dates for each hospital, and how many months behind 

the original schedule are these?  

Mr. Bilsky:     Each of the hospitals, from the very ini-

tial expected completion dates — each is about a year behind. 

We’re expecting to have a grand opening and then opening 

subsequent to that this summer in Watson Lake. So we expect 

to take patients into that hospital in August. Then, for Dawson 

City, as I said, it’s behind about a year, from a construction 

perspective, and we expect that late in the fall or early winter 

we’ll be able to take patients in.  

Hon. Mr. Dixon:    There appears to be a significant in-

crease in cost in the hospital projects from the time the Auditor 

General finalized his report to the time that the corporation 

provided revised figures to the Committee of the Whole.  

The cost of the Watson Lake hospital was originally $22.2 

million and was estimated at $24.6 million, as noted in the re-

port, and is now at $27.9 million. This represents over $3 mil-

lion in additional costs in a matter of months and will put the 

project overbudget by more than 25 percent.  

In the case of Dawson City, the costs have increased by 

just over $2 million in the same time frame, meaning that the 
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project will be overbudget by at least 20 percent. Can the cor-

poration explain what has happened during this time on both 

projects? As with the slippage in the schedule, is the corpora-

tion confident that the costs of these hospital projects will not 

increase further? I know that some of this has been answered 

already, but I guess I’ll ask it again. 

Mr. Bilsky:     I can categorize the increases into three 

areas: one is that we have a year delay in the projects, so that is 

going to cause us to have continued project management over-

sight construction delays. Design — all the consultants that are 

carrying the project have to carry it for a longer period of time.  

The second one, which is again related to delays, would be 

capitalized interest. So that increases because of the extension 

of the projects. 

The third one, I would say, is that we have additional, un-

foreseen equipment costs, most notably the addition of a nurse 

call system, and that’s just due to the increased scope of what 

we are trying to implement there.  

I believe the further part of your question, as I think I have 

already mentioned, is that we have a commitment from Intact 

insurance company to complete the buildings on a lien-free 

basis, according to the original contracts and subsequent 

change orders we might make.  

Having said that, all parties involved here could come for-

ward at any time with delay claims for a multitude of different 

liability reasons.   

Hon. Mr. Dixon:    Following all of that, is there any-

thing the corporation can see that it will do differently in the 

future to better manage project schedules and costs? 

Mr. Bilsky:     Thank you for the question. 

I think the Auditor General has put forth several recom-

mendations that will help the corporation make some course 

corrections, such as institutionalizing the purchasing and pro-

curement policy; probably ensuring that we have the appropri-

ate project management team in place well in advance of be-

ginning construction phase; and, of course, whenever we go 

into a situation that has broad health care impacts, we’ll con-

tinue with a needs assessment and obviously continually assess. 

I think, as I stated before, there were many risk manage-

ment initiatives put in place to ensure that in a situation like 

where there is a default of the general contractor, we’ve taken 

almost every step that we possibly can to ensure that the corpo-

ration is not harmed, the taxpayer is not harmed and that sub-

contractors can continue to get paid. 

Ms. Hanson:    Thank you, Mr. Bilsky. I just have one 

follow-up from that question asked by Mr. Dixon. 

With respect to the oversight role of the Hospital Corpora-

tion and the effective management of these capital projects, 

does the Hospital Corporation have any means of tying the 

compensation for the position of construction project manager, 

as senior management position, to performance outcomes? 

Mr. Bilsky:     Do we have it in place? 

Ms. Hanson:    Well, with the Hospital Corporation, 

you just mentioned the importance of doing the needs assess-

ment and making sure that project management is well man-

aged, particularly when you anticipate new projects. So with 

respect to the new role that the Hospital Corporation has to 

ensure that these capital management projects, when you have 

senior management positions that are responsible for those jobs 

— are the compensation packages tied to performance out-

comes, i.e. do well — bonus; don’t do well — not? 

Mr. Bilsky:     There is nothing in place for the senior 

project administration personnel that ties their compensation to 

the outcomes of the project. Ultimately, it is my responsibility 

to ensure that happens. Ultimately, the selection of those par-

ticular personnel is the outcome.  

Hon. Mr. Dixon:    In paragraph 87, the report notes 

that the corporation is developing a strategic facilities plan and 

master plan for the Whitehorse General Hospital. The corpora-

tion expects this plan will help to identify larger capital needs, 

including significant work on the Whitehorse campus. 

In its appearance before Committee of the Whole, the cor-

poration stated that the master plan estimates future work to 

2035, costing over $300 million, but that it is not an all-or-

nothing process. Can either the corporation or the department 

officials confirm that that master plan was tabled by the Minis-

ter of Health and Social Services in the Legislature earlier this 

year?  

Ms. Meade:      My apologies — I’m trying to remem-

ber if the minister tabled the master plan. I’m not clear, so I’ll 

have to check and get back. I don’t believe so, but I would have 

to check that.  

Hon. Mr. Dixon:    The question originally was this: 

Can the corporation provide us with a copy of the master plan, 

but if it is, in fact, the one that the minister tabled earlier, then 

we don’t need that. So, once we can confirm that, we can de-

termine if that’s necessary.  

Apart from the emergency room and/or the MRI project 

and the $1.5 million ambulance station replacement, are there 

any other projects that the corporation is considering in the 

short to medium term? 

Mr. Bilsky:     Other than internal capital projects, 

which are more equipment replacement, there are no other pro-

jects of that size or magnitude. One correction to that — my 

apologies for the interruption — we are planning on opening 

another 10 beds in the Thomson Centre and that’s going 

through a review right now. 

Ms. Hanson:    This goes back to the planning for capi-

tal expenditures. In the Auditor General’s report on Health and 

Social Services, the Auditor General commended the Hospital 

Corporation for its business case that had been developed with 

respect to the MRI. My question: Did that business case identi-

fy a need for capital expenditures to accommodate it, or was 

the business case solely about the need to acquire an MRI — 

the $2 million, the $4 million matching in total from the foun-

dation? Was it a business case that looked at the whole of the 

implications of having this new technology, or was it simply 

the acquisition of the MRI? 

Mr. Bilsky:     The business case did identify that hous-

ing the units — not just the equipment and operations, but 

housing the unit — was an issue. There was a proposed loca-

tion for that within the hospital confines. It was later deter-
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mined that that was not a viable option, and that has now been 

included with the overall proposal for an emergency depart-

ment and MRI construction. 

Ms. Hanson:    So that initial business case did not have 

a cost associated for the housing of it? 

Mr. Bilsky:     It did have a preliminary cost, but it 

clearly identified the risk — that that had not been fully ex-

plored and would be one further analysis that needed to be 

done.  

Hon. Mr. Dixon:    In paragraph 88, the Auditor Gen-

eral recommends: “Before beginning future capital projects, the 

Corporation should: carry out a needs assessment, a risk as-

sessment, and an options analysis (including how the projects 

will be funded); collaborate with the Department of Health and 

Social Services to ensure that it is aware of any potential im-

pacts on the Yukon health care system and on the funding of 

the Corporation by the department; establish reasonable budget 

and completion dates for its projects and ensure that they are 

adhered to; and ensure that both capital and incremental operat-

ing costs are known before proceeding.” Does the Auditor 

General believe that this recommendation will be valuable for 

future projects? 

Mr. Campbell:     Thank you for the question. Yes, we 

do. This recommendation contains key questions that I believe 

should inform the decision-making process at the front, rather 

than be done after the fact. I’m pleased that the entities have 

accepted this recommendation. I think it’s an important one, 

and it will hopefully lead to better planning, better analysis and 

better documentation of key decisions, therefore improving 

accountability and transparency for the use of public funds. So, 

yes, I think it’s very important. 

Hon. Mr. Dixon:    The corporation agreed with the 

recommendation and added that it would develop — quote: 

“…appropriate needs assessment and business cases to make 

informed decisions. This includes critical decision points at 

which analysis and decision support information is available to 

determine whether to proceed with projects at various stages. 

The Corporation will strive to improve project management 

discipline, which includes the development of reasonable 

budgets and timelines for projects.” 

The corporation also said it will in future “…liaise with the 

Department of Health and Social Services to ensure that the 

Corporation is aware of any potential impacts on the Yukon 

health care system and on the funding of the Corporation by the 

Department.” 

How is this different from the relationship that has existed 

between the corporation and the department in the past? 

Ms. Meade:      Certainly I didn’t live in the past rela-

tionship so I can only look forward, but I think the issue is not 

just about liaising with the department; it’s actually learning 

from the needs assessment and the work we are going to do to 

start to take a bigger picture. Any capital build, any infrastruc-

ture in Health and Social Services, has to be tied to the whole 

system and so developing the future service model for the Yu-

kon includes both what would be continually to be in acute and 

community and delivered in different ways. I think because we 

have established a series of regular CEO and deputy meetings, 

and now are starting to have joint executives, we will do this. 

We also have a joint committee now even just looking at the 

MRI options and any kind of go-forward on that project. I think 

the difference is we now have an established process. We’ll 

have some learning to do because they are two different organ-

izational cultures; however, I think the fact that I’m relatively 

new and so is the CEO and there has been a commitment by the 

minister and board that their relationship has already changed. 

Mr. Bilsky:     Thanks, Madam Chair. I have no addi-

tional comments. 

Hon. Mr. Dixon:    The corporation notes that it “un-

derstands the importance of a needs assessment and business 

case development when embarking on capital projects. The 

Corporation is in the initial stages of adopting a project man-

agement gating process to better plan, execute and deliver on 

capital projects. The overall planning and gating process in-

cludes information at different stages that is assessed and used 

as a decision point to move on to the next gate. The five phases 

of the gating process are as follows: opportunity evaluation 

phase — concept documented; feasibility phase — project def-

inition and early planning; business case phase — detailed de-

sign, costing, budgeting and implementation planning; imple-

mentation phase — build, implement, track and document 

learnings; post-implementation phase — assessing learnings 

and adjust accordingly to optimize project outcomes.”  

“Core elements of this gating process include option anal-

ysis and risk assessment. The Corporation in collaboration with 

HSS is employing this planning methodology in the current 

proposal of Emergency Department/MRI project.”  

At what phase is the new emergency department and/or 

MRI project in the corporation’s project management gating 

process?  

Mr. Bilsky:     So, according to what was just cited 

there, we are at the feasibility stage and we’re about to look for 

approval to begin the schematic design phase, which would 

then say do we have a feasible project and then after that it 

would be looking for the next level of approval, which is actu-

ally getting into detailed functional planning and detailed de-

sign. At each point there would be decisions being made to 

proceed or not to proceed. 

Hon. Mr. Dixon:    In its appearance before the Com-

mittee of the Whole, the corporation noted that the cost of this 

project is estimated at about $60 million. It also noted that it 

would carry out detailed functional planning and design over 

the next year with the MRI to be in service in late 2014 and the 

new emergency department in 2017. Is there a breakdown of 

the cost estimate between the two projects as they are on such 

different timelines and has it been determined whether the pro-

jects will be financed by the government or by additional loans 

to the corporation? 

Mr. Bilsky:     I will answer the second part of the ques-

tion first and then I’ll defer to make sure that we get accurate 

numbers to either Ms. Hunter or Ms. Steele to give an accurate 

breakdown. The second part of the question is no, it has not 

been determined how these projects will be financed yet and 
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those would be decisions that are made, I believe, at the Man-

agement Board level. 

Now as far as the first part of your question, which talks 

about the pieces of the costs that are being estimated, I can de-

fer to these. 

Ms. Steele:      I’m just looking through my material 

here. I’m not sure if we actually have the MRI program broken 

out separately from the ED, so I might have to provide that to 

you at a later date.  

Ms. Hanson:    So we’ll take that as an undertaking that 

you will provide the costing for the MRI and the emergency 

department’s project management costs.  

Ms. Hunter:      I think it’s important to note that we are 

in the preliminary stages, so any costing at this point is very 

high-level. Until we go through our Management Board pro-

cess and have the projects broken up into pieces and timelines 

and have better costing analysis, I think it’s premature to throw 

numbers out there.  

We also have to remember that part of this process is that 

we can’t really say we’re going forward on anything until we 

have the authorities in place. Right now, we’re building our 

business case; we’re taking it forward and we anticipate that 

we’ll get some answers in the fall, and then we’ll potentially 

break the projects into pieces or take them forward as a whole. 

But I don’t think we have the full analysis completed yet, and 

we don’t have the authorities in place yet to make comments on 

actual costing. That’s part of what the business case is going to 

do in the phases as we go through our approvals.  

Ms. Hanson:    Ms. Hunter, before Mr. Dixon asks his 

next question, I have a question. At what phase of the gating 

process is the — it’s a complicated and long title for a project 

management process — Stantec strategic phase II plan — the 

big, long, blue one, that we’ve seen and that refers to a new off-

campus siting of a new Whitehorse General Hospital proposal? 

At what phase is that with respect to this method that the Hos-

pital Corporation and the Health and Social Services depart-

ment are utilizing for planning these major capital projects? 

Mr. Bilsky:     There may be a misconception that that 

is a plan that’s going to be executed from cradle to grave, 

meaning all of that. The master planning process, which was 

actually in two pieces — one was a strategic facilities plan, and 

the other was the master plan — were both precipitated by 

some early studies. Three of them, in fact, were done on taking 

a look at how we could improve the emergency department. 

Those were options that we all looked at. Then that became an 

assessment that was done jointly by Health and Social Services 

and Yukon Hospital Corporation, saying that before we move 

ahead with any option, we had better understand what the long-

term vision potentially could be here. 

That’s what precipitated both the strategic facilities plan 

and the master plan. That body of work is complete and it is 

meant to be conceptual in nature. The reason that you would do 

something like that is to create a potential vision for the next 

steps that you may or may not take. It doesn’t mean that we are 

proceeding with each and every piece of that. All it is saying to 

us is, “If you proceed down this path with this particular cam-

pus, here are some things that you should know about based on 

volumes and volumes of needs assessment, statistics, demo-

graphic changes, the existing facility and so on and so forth.” 

As far as we’re concerned, that body of work is complete when 

it comes to a master plan. That’s how we are using that to in-

form our decisions on moving forward with the MRI and the 

emergency department.  

I don’t know if my colleague has anything to add to that. 

Mr. Silver:    I know that the chair touched on where 

we are in the five phases of getting processed back to the MRI. 

I think Ms. Hunter might have mentioned this as well, but I just 

have a question: Has the project been approved by the govern-

ment yet? If it has been approved already, when did that hap-

pen? And if not, when will it happen? 

Ms. Hunter:      We’re in the process of putting a plan-

ning document and a business case together that will look at all 

different phases of the MRI and the other parts of the project, 

the ED. At the moment we will go forward with that plan and 

the business cases attached to it and the preliminary costing to 

Management Board for further approvals to explore costing at a 

more refined level and to do more of the functional planning. 

At that point, we will be able to let you know what part of the 

projects are moving ahead and at what point or in what combi-

nation, but we don’t have authorities yet to do it. We’re still 

doing the initial analysis and putting the business cases togeth-

er. 

Hon. Mr. Dixon:    To the Auditor General: Are you 

satisfied with the corporation and department’s responses to 

your recommendations and do you think that they are missing 

anything? 

Mr. Campbell:     To answer your question: Yes, we 

are satisfied. We were satisfied with the responses that we re-

ceived through the entities that we published in the report, and 

as I mentioned earlier, I think there are a couple of recommen-

dations there that are particularly key. I was encouraged by 

comments by both Madam Meade and Mr. Bilsky today about 

the commitment to conduct that needs assessment on the exist-

ing facilities to make sure that we get the best bang for the 

buck there, so I really believe that’s the way to go. 

Of course, it’s important to follow through and implement 

and so I would encourage your committee to seek updates on 

the progress of that as they go forward. But yes, we’re satisfied. 

Thank you. 

Ms. Hanson:    I’m not sure if those were your conclud-

ing remarks, but before we do concluding remarks, I would ask 

committee members if there were any other questions that any-

one had that they wanted to raise. I notice Ms. Stick has her 

hand up.  

Ms. Stick:    I just wanted to follow up on two points. 

The first one had to do with a statement made by Mr. Bilsky 

when we were talking about the increases in the O&M costs of 

the new hospitals. Correct me if I’m wrong, or if I’m right in 

quoting this — you stated that 90 percent of the new O&M 

costs relate to the size of the hospitals that were built. I’m just 

wondering if that is what you said, and if it is, can you explain 
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that to me please? Because it’s not clear to me where those 

expenses are. 

Mr. Bilsky:     Not exclusively to the size of the hospi-

tal, I believe — again, I’m giving a ballpark estimate in saying 

90 percent.  

There are two major things that would cause the increase 

in the O&M. One is the significant increase in the size of the 

building, so as we already stated earlier, with the square metre 

size and so on. The operating and maintenance cost of those 

buildings is going to be substantially more than the previous 

buildings, but again we are amalgamating certain facilities. The 

second piece of that is loan servicing. The loan servicing of 

those two facilities was estimated, at inception, to be approxi-

mately $2.5 million per annum per building. That has come 

down now that some of the principals have been paid down, but 

when we’re talking about the two estimates that you’re speak-

ing about, that would comprise the lion’s share of the increase 

in the operating costs. 

Ms. Stick:    My second question had to do with when 

we were talking about housing for staff in Dawson City and 

that there had been a move to contract for some private resi-

dences. There was mention of 12 units throughout Dawson 

City. I just wanted to clarify if those 12 units came under Yu-

kon Housing Corporation buildings? Are those more than what 

was previously provided in Dawson City? 

Mr. Bilsky:     To my knowledge, they are all provided 

by Yukon Housing Corporation. I would ask Ms. Turner to 

confirm that. I can’t comment on how many houses were pro-

vided to the health clinic before, but maybe Ms. Turner can. 

Ms. Turner:      The 12 houses that are referred to are 

with Yukon Housing Corporation. We have an agreement with 

them to offer those, and those are for the hospital employees. 

The other reference you made to the other housing under con-

tractor/private, I’ll let Health and Social Services speak to that.  

Ms. Stick:    I just was wondering if that was an in-

crease in previous housing numbers that were offered in Daw-

son City? 

Ms. Turner:      I probably again should let Health and 

Social Services answer, because we have not had any housing 

in Dawson previously. This is a new opportunity for us. I ex-

pect that would be the case because of the numbers of staff, but 

Health and Social Services would be in a better position what is 

there now. 

Ms. Hunter:      I believe in Watson Lake nine houses 

were transferred as part of the Watson Lake hospital. I’m not 

sure because Dawson is a different type of structure. It’s not a 

takeover. 

Ms. Meade:      I’ll speak to Dawson specifically, be-

cause I did mention earlier that we had two facilities that we 

used for both the resident in-place physicians and locum. 

To the best of my knowledge we had a couple of nurses 

who were residents of the community and a couple of others 

we didn’t provide housing for or, if we did, it was very short 

term for locum and cover off nurses. For us, there hasn’t been 

an increase on that side. It’s still the residence for the physi-

cians. 

Ms. Hanson:    Any other committee members with any 

questions? 

Mr. Silver:    Earlier, Ms. Wright mentioned medevac 

data. Does the corporation believe that the programming for the 

two hospitals will decrease the medevacs from the communi-

ties? 

Mr. Bilsky:     The in-territory medevacs we see cur-

rently are approximately 50 per month — “in-territory” mean-

ing that’s from both locations, not each one is 50. We’re not 

expecting nor did we intend for that number to go down. It’s 

undetermined what the impact will be at this point. The intent 

of the health facility — and hospitals in particular — was to 

ensure that we had good quality patient care. This would mean 

that they can get home quicker and can stay longer in places 

where they’re more comfortable and taken care of better and be 

closer to their families. That was the intent. Medevac wasn’t 

part of the factor as far as building the hospitals.  

Mr. Silver:    Why was there an increase to the capital 

due to heritage guidelines? Better yet, why were these costs 

unanticipated? Were there not discussions with the Dawson 

City Heritage Advisory Committee prior to discussion to con-

struction beginning? 

Mr. Bilsky:     I’ll start that answer. I’m going to ask 

Ms. Turner to complete the answer. There were two major fac-

tors involved, I think. One was the footprint of the building. In 

that case, as you all know, you can’t go below ground, which 

means that it’s going to be a large, tall structure — so it must 

comply with heritage bylaws there.  

Number two is the appearance of the building — namely, 

the siding of the building — and those were issues we had to 

deal with on an ongoing basis. 

Ms. Turner:      The only thing I could probably add 

would be that although there were extensive discussions with 

both heritage and the city regarding the up and coming building 

— in fact, Stantec had on-side — one of the people they put 

forward as part of their project was quite involved with heritage 

and was considered a national expert in the area. It was difficult 

to anticipate how it would translate into the actual building 

once it was actually designed. So to anticipate the costs up 

front was a bit of a challenge, though they did work closely 

with them as they went through all the different processes.  

Mr. Silver:    I just have two more questions here, based 

upon the answers we received today. As far as recruitment of 

the nurses in Dawson, I know there were changes in the start 

dates for their contracts based upon the project being pushed 

back. Has the corporation found any problems in this recruit-

ment because the start dates have gone out until — I believe 

now, some of the start dates for the nurses are as late as No-

vember. 

Mr. Bilsky:     The best person to answer that question 

is Ms. Turner. She’s intimately involved with the operational 

planning.  

Ms. Turner:      Thank you for the question. Yes, it ab-

solutely is a challenge when you have a moving target, in terms 

of an opening date. However, we’ve been fortunate — because 

the corporation already has two other sites going, what we have 
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been able to do is do some creative staffing. We’re recognizing 

that we’ll have three sites. It’s one corporation, so some of the 

staff has actually been working in Watson Lake or in our hospi-

tal in Whitehorse in the interim, so we have taken opportunities 

that way. 

We have also had some staff who are in current positions, 

and they are not shuffling until the new one is open. So it is a 

bit of a balancing act. We talk regularly to all the staff we have 

lined up — weekly or at least that — so that they are well-

apprised of the situation, and we are going forward with the 

best intentions of giving as much information as we can with 

the opening date. 

Mr. Silver:    Thank you very much for the answer. I 

just have one more question with regard to the current stock of 

housing that’s available for the hospital. It was mentioned to-

day that a few of those units are being re-used currently. I was 

just wondering who are in these housing units now, and how is 

it decided who gets to occupy them in the interim? 

Ms. Turner:      We have our 12 houses lined up to start 

for our staff but, in the meantime, recognizing that that is a 

significant pressure in Dawson, we have been working with the 

Yukon Housing Corporation. In partnership with them, they 

have been able to sublet three of them back to people they have 

on their list. We also have a partnership with Health and Social 

Services, because, again, they have had a need for that, so we 

have sublet to them. It has been in partnerships with those folks 

that we have been able to identify — we have been able to use 

the housing in the interim. 

Ms. Hanson:    If there are no other questions arising 

from the committee, I’ll ask the Auditor General if they have 

any concluding remarks before I make mine. 

Mr. Campbell:     Yes, just very, very brief. Mr. Bilsky 

had made a comment in relation to inclusion of managing the 

building projects in which he referred to it as “okay”. As audi-

tors, we use a much more colourful term: “adequate”. I just 

wanted to say that I agree with Mr. Bilsky’s assessment.  

I’ll just spend a second on the conclusions. Our conclu-

sions are binary — they are either adequate or not adequately 

managed; they are either adequately planned or not. Just to be 

clear: Once the projects were under construction, our opinion 

was that that was managed adequately. I just wanted to make 

that clear, that I agree with that comment. 

In terms of the other major conclusion in terms of the 

planning, clearly our opinion was that that was not adequately 

managed for all of the reasons that you heard today in terms of 

lack of analysis and lack of documentation, which are absolute-

ly vital components in terms of accountability for public funds. 

I just wanted to spend a second on that. 

As I mentioned earlier, I was encouraged by comments in 

relation to what the entities’ commitments are to the needs 

analysis. I think that’s something that really needs to get done. 

I think Ms. Meade had actually gone further and said that it’s 

more than just that; it’s for the ongoing assessment of services 

that are required in the territory. So, that’s important. We 

would hope that our recommendations will be helpful to both 

entities, particularly to the Hospital Corporation. As they move 

forward they’ve already implemented a contracting policy and 

we hope that, in time, those recommendations will have been 

helpful to them.  

Just finally I’d like to thank you and your committee, 

Madam Chair, for your interest in our work and for giving us 

an opportunity to support the work of your committee here in 

the Yukon. Thank you. 

Ms. Hanson:    Thank you very much, Mr. Campbell. 

Before I adjourn this hearing, I’d like to make a few re-

marks on behalf of the Standing Committee on Public Ac-

counts. First of all, I’d like to thank all of the witnesses who 

appeared before the Public Accounts Committee today. I would 

also like to thank the officials from the Office of the Auditor 

General and the committee Clerk for their help. 

As I said earlier today, the purpose of the Public Accounts 

Committee is to help ensure accountability for the use of public 

funds. I believe the committee made progress today toward 

accomplishing that task. The committee’s report on these hear-

ings will be tabled in the Legislative Assembly and we will 

invite those who appeared before the committee and other Yu-

koners to read the report and to communicate to the committee 

their reactions to it.  

I would also like to add that today’s hearing does not nec-

essarily signal the end of the committee’s consideration of the 

issues raised in the Auditor General’s report. The committee 

may follow up with the corporation and the Department of 

Health and Social Services on the implementation of the com-

mitments made in response to the recommendations of the Au-

ditor General and of the committee itself. This could include a 

follow-up public hearing at some point in the future.  

With that, I would again like to thank all those who partic-

ipated in and helped to organize this hearing. In particular, on 

behalf of the Public Accounts Committee, I want to thank Lin-

da Kolody, the Acting Clerk who has been carrying and wear-

ing many hats over the last week or so — in particular this 

week. I very much thank you, Linda.  

I now declare this hearing adjourned.  

 

The committee adjourned at 3:12 p.m. 


